Aus der V. Medizinischen Klinik der Medizinischen Fakultät Mannheim (Direktor: Prof. Dr. med. Bernhard Karl Krämer)

Different Effects of Oxidized Parathyroid Hormone (ox-PTH) and Nonoxidized Parathyroid Hormone (n-oxPTH) on Sclerostin (SOST): based on in vitro studies

Inauguraldissertation zur Erlangung des medizinischen Doktorgrades der Medizinischen Fakultät Mannheim der Ruprecht-Karls-Universität zu Heidelberg

vorgelegt von

Mei Li

aus Sichuan, China

2023

Dekan: Prof. Dr. med. Sergij Goerdt Referent: Prof. Dr. med. Berthold Hocher

CONTENTS

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Parathyroid hormone
1.2 Sclerostin9
1.3 Interaction of sclerostin and parathyroid hormone15
1.3.1 Preclinical perspectives15
1.3.2 Clinical perspectives16
1.3.3 The importance of interactions between sclerostin and parathyroid
hormone
1.3.4 Potential mechanisms of interactions between sclerostin and parathyroid
hormone
1.4 Aim of the study21
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Materials
2.1.1. Cell lines and cell culture material22
2.1.2 Chemicals and reagents22
2.1.3 Devices and equipment24
2.2 Methods
2.2.1 Cell culture
2.2.2 RNA isolation
2.2.3 RNA purification
2.2.4 cDNA synthesis
2.2.5 Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)
2.2.6 Statistical analysis

3 RESULTS	0
3.1 Separate effect of PTH peptides on SOST expression in cultured cells3	0
3.2 Effect of combination of non-oxidized PTH and oxidized PTH peptides on sclerostin in cultured cells	2
3.3 Effect of combination of various oxidized PTH peptides on sclerostin in cultured cells	4
1 DISCUSSION	6
SUMMARY	.2
REFERENCE	.4
APPENDIX	3
PUBLICATION LIST	4
CURRICULUM VITE	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	6

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

°C	Degree Celsius
%	Percent
μl	Microliter
μg	Microgram
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D
1,25(OH)2D	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D
BMP	Bone Morphogenetic Protein
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
cAMP	Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
CKD	Chronic Kidney Disease
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
СНХ	Cycloheximide
Ct	Cycle Threshold
CI	Confidence Interval
DAN	Differential screening selected gene Aberrant in Neuroblastoma
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
dL	Deciliter
eGFR	Estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate
ELISA	Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay
ESRD	End-stage Renal Disease
FGF23	Fibroblast Growth Factor 23
g	Gram
HLA	Human Leukocyte Antigen
hPTH1-34	Human Parathyroid Hormone 1-34
H_2O_2	Hydrogen Peroxide
iPTH	Intact PTH
IQR	Interquartile Range
KTRs	Kidney Transplant Recipients
КО	Knockout
kg	Kilogram

LDL	Low Density Lipoprotein
LRP	LDL-receptor-related Protein
L/I	Liter
Met	Methionine
Met18 (ox)-PTH	PTH Oxidized at Met 18
Met8 (ox)-PTH	PTH Oxidized at Met 8
Met8,18 (di-ox)-PTH	PTH Oxidized at Met 8 and 18
MEF2	Myocyte Enhancer Factor 2
ml	Milliliter
N-oxPTH	Non-oxidized PTH
NFH ₂ O	Nuclease-free H ₂ O
nm	Nanometer
nmol	Namomole
ng	Nanogram
Ox-PTH	Oxidized PTH
PTH	Parathyroid Hormone
PTH1R	Parathyroid Hormone 1 Receptor
PHPT	Primary Hyperparathyroidism
рН	Potential of Hydrogen
РКА	Protein Kinase A
PTHrP	PTH-related Protein
RT-qPCR	Real-Time Quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction
rPTH	Rat PTH
Runx2	Runt-related Transcription Factor 2
RT	Reverse Transcription
SOST	Sclerostin
T2DM	Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
T1DM	Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
VC	Vascular Calcification

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Parathyroid hormone

Parathyroid hormone (PTH) is produced by parathyroid glands located at the posterior of the thyroid gland ¹. In vivo, PTH can initiate functions in bones, intestines, and kidneys through binding to the PTH1 receptor (PTH1R) expressed by osteoblasts. In the bone, PTH stimulates the release of calcium and phosphate ². In the intestines, PTH acts on the absorption of calcium and phosphorus. In the kidney, PTH activates vitamin D, meanwhile, promotes the transformation of 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) to 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D), also called calcitriol, by activating the enzyme $1-\alpha$ -hydroxylase, which, in turn, increases calcium and phosphate reabsorption in the intestines ². In addition, PTH stimulates calcium reabsorption but impedes phosphate reabsorption in the distal tubules of kidneys² (Figure 1). PTH is a key hormone for calcium homeostasis through many ways of regulation, resulting in the increase of calcium levels. In turn, circulating calcium levels also play a pivotal role in regulating PTH levels. Once increased level of extracellular calcium is detected, intracellular calcium concentrations increase through the signal transduction across the calcium-sensing receptor of cell surface and intracellular pathways, consequently suppressing PTH exocytosis. Meanwhile, hypercalcemia can stimulate the degradation and release of PTH fragments ³. In addition, calcium also regulates the synthesis of PTH. In addition to extracellular calcium, the main regulator of the processes as above mentioned, extracellular 1,25(OH)₂D, phosphate, and fibroblast growth factor 23 (FGF23) also influence PTH synthesis and secretion ².

Previous investigation has identified the role of increased blood PTH levels in clinical practice. Primary and secondary hyperparathyroidism are characterized with excessive PTH secretion, which can result in bone diseases and vascular calcification ⁴. The disorders of excess levels of PTH have been also investigated in general population ^{5,6}. It is reported that increased PTH concentrations are related to high risks of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and death rate ^{5,6}. Similar results were reported in patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) ⁷. However, a meta-analysis found there was no clear association between serum levels of PTH and all-cause mortality in CKD patients ⁸. A possible explanation is that the systemic review did not exclude the studies in CKD patients on dialysis ⁸. Since studies are controversial in patients

undergoing dialysis. Some studies indicated that increased circulating PTH levels were associated with higher risk of mortality in dialysis patients ⁹⁻¹², whereas, other studies either found no association ¹³, or even in an inverse association ¹⁴⁻¹⁶. Thus, Cozzolino et al. suggested PTH should be adequately controlled without over-suppression, especially in patients with CKD receiving dialysis ¹⁷. Similarly, in kidney transplant recipients (KTRs), circulating PTH levels were significantly increased ^{18,19}. Moreover, increased serum PTH concentrations were associated with the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) ¹⁸, and were a potential predictor for renal allograft loss in KTRs ¹⁹.



Figure 1. Effects of PTH on bone, intestines, and kidneys. Parathyroid glands secrete PTH in vivo, which binds to PTH1R expressed by osteoblasts. The affinity between PTH and PTH1R can differently impact bones, intestines, and kidneys. In the bone, PTH promotes the release of calcium and phosphorus, while in the intestines, PTH promotes the absorption of calcium and phosphorus. Moreover, PTH facilitates calcium reabsorption and vitamin D activation but suppresses phosphate reabsorption in the kidneys. The activated vitamin D in the kidneys can in turn promote the absorption of calcium and phosphorus in the intestines. This figure is on my own elaboration.

PTH is a single-chain polypeptide hormone consisting of 84 amino acid residues ³. Two methionine (Met) residues at positions 8 and 18 within PTH, which are inclined to be oxidized in vivo, which may lead to conformational changes. Consequently, the biological activity of oxidized form of PTH is impaired due to the conformational changes of PTH. As oxidized PTH does not stimulate the PTH1R to generate cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), it is most likely biologically inactive ²⁰. It has been reported that the non-oxidized PTH (n-oxPTH) and the oxidized PTH (oxPTH) have different bioactivities. However, the previous PTH assays emphasize measuring fulllength PTH but fail to differentiate n-oxPTH from oxPTH, giving rise to several-folder higher readout than the actual bioactive PTH in population study ²⁰. Moreover, the Met residue 18 of PTH was susceptible to becoming oxidized due to its location, whereas the PTH at Met residue 8 is difficult to be oxidized because of a hydrophobic pocket ²¹. In addition, it is reported that PTH oxidized at Met18 (Met18 (ox)-PTH) maintains partial biological activity compared to PTH oxidized at Met8 (Met8 (ox)-PTH)^{2,22}. The different biological activities of the various ox-PTH forms contribute to the different conformational changes. A previous study showed that Met8 (ox)-PTH had a substantial change of secondary structure, whereas Met18 (ox)-PTH caused a relatively small conformation change ²³. Meanwhile, the PTH oxidized at Met8 and Met18 (Met8,18 (di-ox)-PTH) had the biggest impact on conformation changes when compared with individual oxidations ²³. Accordingly, the bioactive sequences of different ox-PTH are as follows: Met18 (ox) PTH > Met8(ox) PTH > Met8, Met18 (diox) PTH ²³.

Over the past few decades, PTH measurements have been evolved from the firstgeneration assays to the currently available second-generation and third-generation assays which are based on a sandwich immunoassay. For the first-generation assays, single antibody is used which can simultaneously detect several inactive hormone fragments ²⁴. However, the second-generation PTH assay applies two antibodies, by which one antibody was designed against the C-terminal amino acid region 34-84, whereas another can recognize the N-terminal residues of 23-24 or 26-32 ²⁵. Therefore, this second-generation PTH assay measures the full-length PTH and C-terminal fragments, mainly the PTH fragments 7-84. The N-terminal antibody of the thirdgeneration assay is raised against a more proximal part (amino acid region 1-4). Although the third-generation assay solely measures full-length PTH, there is still an

6

ongoing debate on whether using second or third-generation PTH assays is preferable ²⁵. PTH results are acquired from second-generation PTH assays in most nephrology centers. Notably, the second and third-generation assays cannot distinguish oxPTH from n-oxPTH. First described in 2012, the "4th generation" assay was recently developed to measure n-oxPTH alone²⁰. In this assay, oxPTH is first excluded by specific monoclonal antibodies in an affinity, while the remained n-oxPTH can be actuarily measured through automated PTH assays ²⁶.

As early as 1934, PTH was described as being oxidized ²⁷. That year, Tweedy et al. investigated the effects of various chemical agents on the PTH's biological activity. Dogs were injected with extracts of PTH treated with different concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). As H₂O₂ concentration increases, oxidation causes the significant decrease in calcium concentration, indirectly showing that PTH can be inactivated by oxidation ²⁷. Subsequently, many other in vitro studies observed the changed biological activities by oxidation of PTH. Several animal studies demonstrated that infused ox-PTH induced by H₂O₂ failed to act on kidney and bone in vivo experiments, resulting in a decline in calcium and 1,25(OH)₂D levels^{28,29}. Moreover, some studies investigated that PTH can stimulate adenyl cyclase of renal and bone fragments to produce the second messenger - cAMP ³⁰. These findings demonstrated that ox-PTH possessed a reduced signaling capacity and failed to activate the cellular adenylate cyclase ³⁰. Furthermore, some researchers also explored the altered effects of ox-PTH on activating alkaline phosphatase ³¹, relaxing guinea-pig trachea ³², constricting blood vessels ³³, activating mitochondrial adenosine triphosphate synthase ³⁴, stimulating cardiac action ³⁵, and influencing FGF23 synthesis ³⁶ in vitro as well.

Although evidence is compelling for ox-PTH in rat models, little is known as to PTH oxidation in humans ². In the beginning, it was generally assumed that oxidation of PTH did not take place in living organisms ³⁷. As a consequence, less interest had been directed toward this field in clinical practice until Hocher et al. launched a creative assay, enabling it to measure n-oxPTH in an easy way ²⁰. Several studies found that circulating n-oxPTH concentrations, namely completely bioactive PTH, were much lower than that of measured intact PTH (iPTH), even though their exact percentages were unclear ^{38,39}. Previous data on associations of iPTH with mortality were consistent

with the U-shaped association previously built by others, suggesting increased risk with too high or too low iPTH ^{40,41}. In comparison, the association between n-oxPTH and mortality in kidney disease was controversial. Subsequently, accumulating clinical studies analyzed the relationship between n-oxPTH and clinical outcomes. In 2013, Tepel et al. first assessed the clinical implications of n-oxPTH measured by threegeneration assays in 340 hemodialysis patients ⁴². Survival analysis showed that patients with high tertile of circulating n-oxPTH had higher survival rates than those with low tertile of n-oxPTH concentrations ⁴². Moreover, multivariate analysis demonstrated that the odds of death increased with age, whereas higher n-oxPTH concentrations decreased the odds of death after adjusting confounding factors ⁴². In all patients, iPTH had a strong correlation with n-oxPTH, whereas subgroup analysis in patients with high iPTH (> 70ng/L) showed iPTH was strongly associated with oxPTH levels but not n-oxPTH ⁴². Next year, Hocher et al. published an abstract that analyzed 2867 patients of the EVOLVE trial (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT00345839) ⁴³. They found that iPTH was strongly associated with oxPTH but weakly associated with n-oxPTH. Their findings showed that n-oxPTH, but not iPTH or oxPTH, was associated with cardiovascular and all-cause mortality ⁴³. In KTRs, only n-oxPTH was reported to be significantly correlated with graft loss after adjustment for known confounding factors, such as sex, age at transplantation, age at study entry, serum phosphorus, calcium excretion, hemoglobin, urinary protein, eGFR, pH, urinary albumin creatine ratio, and 25(OH)D ⁴⁴. Furthermore, a strong association between iPTH and oxPTH was observed in this cohort ⁴⁴. These studies supported the measurement of n-oxPTH in clinical settings. Meanwhile, n-oxPTH may be superior to iPTH in evaluating cardiovascular mortality and renal endpoints in kidney diseases.

On the other hand, the clinical implications of n-oxPTH have been disputed by other researchers. A prior study showed that n-oxPTH was not associated with any of the examined clinical outcomes, such as CKD progression, acute heart failure, all-cause mortality, and atherosclerotic events in CKD from stages 2 to 4 ⁴⁵. In contrast, iPTH continued to be associated with all-cause mortality after adjusting cardiovascular and kidney risk factors in multivariate regression analyses ⁴⁵. N-oxPTH measurements were not superior to second-generation PTH measurements in predicting all-cause mortality in participants without dialysis ⁴⁵. Recently, one of our studies showed that ox-PTH and iPTH concentrations markedly increased, whereas circulating n-oxPTH

8

moderately increased with the decrease in eGFR in two cohorts, including CKD children and KTRs ³⁶. Another study explored the implications of n-oxPTH for assessing bone turnover in CKD ²⁶. The researchers found that the abilities of n-oxPTH and iPTH to discriminate low/non-low and high/non-high bone turnover were significant and comparable, suggesting no added values of measuring n-oxPTH for assessing bone turnover in CKD patients ²⁶.

Circulating iPTH was strongly associated with oxPTH in CKD patients with or without dialysis. Given the involvement of oxidative stress in patients with CKD, there was a high proportion of oxidized PTH in CKD. Previously, it has been reported that Met18(ox)-PTH is more likely to be oxidized than Met8(ox)-PTH did in the organisms. Therefore, we assume that Met18(ox)-PTH concentrations are higher than that of Met8(ox)-PTH in vivo. This hypothesis has been supported by prior studies ^{2,26}. Moreover, it has been suggested that n-oxPTH may be prone to reflect the PTH bioactivity, whereas iPTH may be better described as a consequence of oxidative stress. Currently, despite the partial loss of biological activity of oxPTH being demonstrated, the roles of n-oxPTH and oxPTH with residual biological activity, such as Met18(ox)-PTH, are associated with some pertinent questions and concerns about its clinical implications for clinical diagnostics and decision-making remains unclear.

1.2 Sclerostin

Sclerostin (SOST) is a 190-amino-acid secreted glycoprotein with catabolic effects on bone, encoded by the SOST gene. It has been reported that the SOST gene is mainly expressed in osteocytes, but also in many other organs or tissues such as osteoblasts, cartilage, bone marrow, kidney, liver, and heart; however, it mainly expresses in osteocytes ⁴⁶. The amino acid sequence of sclerostin is closely similar to that of the DAN family of glycoproteins, and DAN (differential screening selected gene aberrant in neuroblastoma) family proteins that act as antagonists of bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) signaling⁴⁶. It was initially reported that SOST exerts its regulatory function through modulating BMPs. However, the argument is inconsistent regarding the interaction between sclerostin and BMP signaling. It was showed that sclerostin can directly antagonize BMP signaling pathways ^{47,48}, whereas others showed that

SOST is not a classical BMP antagonist ^{49,50}. Furthermore, Krause et al. demonstrated that the antagonist action of SOST on BMP signaling is mediated through specific targeting on BMP7 in osteocytes ⁴⁷. At cellular level, SOST can directly inhibit of the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway to promote osteogenic pathways for elevation of bone mass ^{31, 33, 35, 36}, despite the incomplete elucidation of SOST actions in modulating bone formation (Figure 2). Wnt ligands bind to LDL-receptor-related protein (LRP) 5 or 6, activating the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Alternatively, SOST may bind to the LRP5/ LRP6 complexes and prevent them from interacting with the Wnt ligands ¹ (Figure 2). But the notion was challenged in a recent study which questioned the importance of the interaction between SOST and the Wnt co-receptor LRP5 in inhibiting bone formation in osteoblasts ^{37, 38}. Although the molecular basis of interaction between SOST and LRP5 in inhibiting bone formation remained unclear, it is clear that SOST is a negative regulator of bone growth ¹.



Figure 2. Potential mechanisms of Sclerostin/SOST action in the osteoblast. Sclerostin (SOST) is primarily produced by osteocytes in the bone. In the absence of sclerostin/SOST, the Wnt signaling pathway is activated by the binding of Wnt ligands to receptors on the cell surface, which leads to the recruitment and activation of several downstream proteins, including β -catenin. β -catenin is a transcription factor that translocates to the nucleus and promotes the expression of genes involved in osteoblast differentiation and activity, seen in the left panel. SOST is known to act as a negative regulator of bone formation. SOST exerts its function by inhibiting the Wnt signaling pathway, which is essential for the differentiation and activation of osteoblasts. Specifically, sclerostin binds to LRP5/6 co-receptors, which are required for Wnt signaling activation, and prevents them from interacting with Wnt ligands, seen in the right panel. This figure is on my own elaboration.

A series of basic studies explored the SOST actions in various animal models. In SOST knockout (KO) mice, bone formation, bone volume, and bone strength were significantly increased, demonstrating its negative role in regulating bone formation ⁵¹. Furthermore, Li et al. observed impaired healing in SOST KO mice, showing the critical role in wound healing. Their findings showed that callus mass, bone formation, and bone strength were greater in SOST KO mice ⁵². In addition, Yee et al. explored the specific cell type contributing to high bone mass phenotype in SOST KO mice by building a mice model characterized by conditional deletions of SOST function. They found that some cell types from the Prx1-osteoprogenitor-derived lineages predominantly contribute to the amount of SOST protein in bone ⁵³. In animal models of osteoporosis, a systematic review concluded that treatment of antibodies to SOST improved bone structure, mass, and strength ⁵⁴. In models of mature ovariectomized rats, SOST antibody administration significantly increased mRNA gene expression of several osteocytes in the tibia and vertebra compared to the control group ⁵⁵. Even in aged male rats, the inhibition of SOST by the treatment of SOST antibody increased bone mass, formation, and strength ⁵⁶.

Previous research into the biology and mechanism of SOST actions revealed that SOST plays a key role in many skeletal disorders. In clinical practice, disorders of the SOST in vivo, such as decreased SOST levels due to the inactivation of the SOST gene, lead to certain clinical phenotypes, including sclerosteosis and van Buchem's disease ^{57,58}. These diseases are characterized by high bone mass. Both diseases' mechanisms probably contribute to the inactivation of the SOST gene, stimulating the osteoanabolic pathway it regulates. Furthermore, the role of SOST was also explored in other types of diseases. In patients with diabetes mellitus, increased SOST concentrations were observed in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) ^{59,60} and associated with a high risk of vertebral fractures independent of bone turnover and bone mineral density (BMD) ⁵⁹. Upregulated SOST levels might delay the healing of T2DM associated bone fracture ⁶¹. Moreover, SOST levels in T2DM were higher than those in type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) or controls ⁶². In T1DM, no association was observed between SOST and the biomarker of bone metabolism ^{63,64}. In rheumatoid arthritis, serum SOST levels were an independent risk factor for abdominal aortic calcification ⁶⁵.

In recent years, the role of SOST has been discussed in the field of renal diseases. Accumulating studies have explored SOST-associated mortality risk in nontransplanted patients with CKD. In patients with CKD without dialysis, serum SOST levels were higher than controls and increased with the stages of CKD. Moreover, high SOST concentrations correlated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality even after multiple adjustments ⁶⁶. However, several studies reported that the association of SOST with cardiovascular and all-cause mortality is conflicting in dialysis cohorts. Some studies showed that SOST is related to all-cause mortality in dialysis patients ⁶⁷⁻⁷¹, whereas other studies did not find this association ⁷²⁻ ⁷⁵. Among them, three studies found that SOST is associated with cardiovascular mortality ^{67,69,72}, but one study did not identify this association ⁷³. Furthermore, Pelletier et al. reported that serum SOST increased with declining GFR ⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸, and SOST was independently associated with GFR in CKD after multiple regression analyses ⁷⁶. In a study conducted the following year, Cejka et al. showed that urinary excretion of SOST increased with decreasing eGFR; however, this finding was not associated with serum SOST levels in the CKD stages from 1 to 5⁷⁹.

Circulating SOST levels significantly increased in CKD and end-stage renal disease (ESRD), where serum SOST was independently associated with vascular calcification (VC) ^{80,81} and atherosclerotic disease ^{77,82}. Although previous findings about the association of SOST with cardiovascular events, all-cause mortality, and VC are controversial, it is clear that SOST is an important biomarker of disease progression in CKD and may be a novel therapeutic target. In terms of KRTs, Bonani et al. conducted a prospective study comparing serum SOST levels before and after one year of renal transplantation while exploring the association of SOST with BMD⁸³. They found that pre-transplant SOST concentrations were increased in all patients while significantly decreasing 15 days after kidney transplantation, parallel to renal function improvements⁸³. There was no association between SOST and BMD in KRTs⁸³. Considering VC is prevalent and progressive in KRTs, Evenepoel et al. studied the correlation between SOST and the progression of VC⁸⁴. The finding showed that up to 84% of participants presented VC at baseline, and more than half of KRTs underwent progression of VC⁸⁴. Furthermore, serum SOST levels at baseline were negatively associated with VC progression after adjusting traditional factors such as age, gender, and PTH levels ⁸⁴.

13

Moreover, the serum SOST levels in KRTs with the high arterial stiffness group were higher than those in the low arterial stiffness group ⁸⁵. Further multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that SOST was an independent predictor of peripheral arterial stiffness, suggesting SOST may be involved in the pathogenesis of peripheral arterial stiffness in KRTs ⁸⁵. One of our prior studies demonstrated that circulating SOST was independently associated with all-cause mortality in multiple proportional hazards regression analyses after adjustment for known confounding factors ⁸⁶. Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the leading cause of death in KTRs ⁸⁷. It is reported that more than half of the populations with KRTs directly died from CVD ^{88,89}. In addition, the Wnt signaling pathway is believed to be associated with vascular calcification ⁹⁰ and CVD ⁹¹. The progression of VC and atherosclerosis are risk factors for the increased incidence of CVD. This probably explained that increased SOST concentrations - a known inhibitor of Wnt signaling - contributed to the cardiovascular death rate.

Estrogen, mechanical loading, and PTH have been reported as regulators of sclerostin expression ⁴⁶. Several studies have shown that estrogen treatment markedly decreases circulating SOST levels in postmenopausal women ⁹²⁻⁹⁴, and increased SOST is associated with age ⁹⁴. Furthermore, circulating sclerostin is higher in male CKD patients than female CKD patients ^{76,78,95}. These findings are consistent with the fact that estrogen mediates the reduction in SOST. Moreover, researchers conducted studies on the role played by mechanical loading in the expression of SOST. They found that the SOST-positive staining intensity and number in osteocytes were significantly reduced after mechanical loading ⁹⁶. In contrast, the SOST was upregulated after mechanical unloading in the female mice model. Currently, many pieces of research have proven the mutual regulation between PTH and SOST.

1.3 Interaction of sclerostin and parathyroid hormone

1.3.1 Preclinical perspectives

Cell culture and animal studies initially investigated the association between SOST and PTH. In this context, Keller et al. showed that SOST mRNA expression in PTHtreated calvariae four hours after the last human PTH 1-34 (hPTH (1-34)) administration was decreased by 40% in a mouse model of calvaria local bone formation when compared with the vehicle-treated group ⁹⁷. This study treats mice with subcutaneous injections of 100 nmol/l of hPTH (1-34) twice daily for five days or a vehicle. Moreover, a significant reduction of SOST expression in the femur was also observed in a single subcutaneous injection at a dose of 80 ug/kg of rat PTH 1-34 (rPTH (1-34)) six hours after rPTH (1-34) injection and in estrogen-deprived six-monthold rats that were treated with a moderate dose of rPTH (1-34) (5 ug/kg) in vivo ⁹⁷. Similar trends were also observed in in vitro experiments ⁹⁷. Their findings showed that PTH statistically inhibited SOST gene expressions in calvaria cultures and UMR-106 osteosarcoma cells, presenting a similar time course. Meanwhile, there was a doseresponse trend of hPTH (1-34) in UMR-106 cells ⁹⁷. In the same year, Teresita et al. reported that SOST mRNA expression dramatically decreased in vertebral bone by 80 - 90% after a continuous infusion in mice using PTH for four days in vivo ⁹⁸. Meanwhile, in vitro experiments showed that PTH directly inhibited SOST expression in cell cultures, such as primary neonatal murine calvaria and osteocytic MLO-A5 cells ⁹⁸. In subsequent studies, it was consistently shown that PTH inhibited both in vitro and in vivo SOST expression ^{99,100}. In our preliminary report, we found both n-oxPTH and Met18(ox)-PTH peptides with concentrations of 3 nmol/l and 10 nmol/l profoundly downregulated the SOST mRNA expressions in UMR-106 cells ³⁶. Moreover, PTH also impacts SOST protein expressions. In 2005, Teresita et al. showed that immunoblot analysis and immunostaining significantly reduced SOST protein in osteocytes ⁹⁸. PTH administration decreased SOST staining density in mice mandibular condylar cartilage and subchondral bone ¹⁰¹. Similarly, Yam et al. demonstrated that, compared to the controls, PTH (1-34) treatment decreased SOST expression in the cartilage by immunohistochemical staining ¹⁰². Furthermore, increased serum PTH levels in primary hyperparathyroidism (PHPT) mice decreased circulation SOST levels and SOST expression in calvaria ¹⁰³.

15

On the other hand, SOST probably also mediates the role of PTH in stimulating bone formation ¹⁰⁴. Rhee et al. showed that the stimulatory impact of the PTH receptor signaling pathway on periosteal bone formation requires SOST downregulation and consequent Wnt activation, but the modulation of PTH by SOST is relatively weak ¹⁰⁵. In the mice model, a lack of PTH signaling was associated with an increased expression of SOST ¹⁰⁶. Moreover, Saini et al. showed that the regulation of sclerostin expression plays a pivotal role in PTH/PTH-related peptide type 1 receptor signaling in osteocytes, impacting the catabolism and anabolism of PTH ¹⁰⁷. In the mice model with SOST overexpressing or SOST deficiency, PTH-induced bone formation was blunt due to disorders of SOST secretion, suggesting SOST, a bone formation inhibitor, mediates PTH bone anabolism ¹⁰⁸.

1.3.2 Clinical perspectives

Based on previous basic studies, a significant negative association between SOST and PTH is clear. Except for preclinical studies, the question of whether PTH plays a regulatory role in SOST levels has also been investigated in humans. We will introduce relevant researches in two aspects, including non-renal and renal disease. In human subjects with PHPT, circulating sclerostin levels were inversely associated with blood PTH levels ^{109,110} and were lower than those in euparathyroid or hypoparathyroid controls ¹¹⁰. In healthy men, serum SOST levels decreased throughout the PTH infusion ¹¹¹. However, blood SOST levels in patients who had undergone parathyroidectomy were much higher compared with subjects with active PHPT, and the levels returned to normal by postoperative day 10¹¹². Moreover, serum SOST levels in postmenopausal women negatively correlated with circulating PTH levels compared with premenopausal women ⁹². In addition, intermittent PTH therapy dramatically declined peripheral serum SOST and marrow plasma SOST in postmenopausal women ¹¹³. These findings indicate that PTH downregulates SOST production in bone. Moreover, the findings from a study conducted by Drake et al. supported a hypothesis that the anabolic effects of PTH on bone were at least partly regulated by decreased SOST production ¹¹³. A previous study demonstrated that SOST was inversely associated with PTH in non-dialysis patients, whereas no significant association was identified between SOST and PTH in both T1DM and T2DM patients. This suggested that the repressive transcriptional impact of PTH on sclerostin production may be diminished ⁶². Cejka et al. demonstrated that the level of SOST is negatively correlated with the level of iPTH in CKD patients with stage 5. Meanwhile, in predicting bone turnover and osteoblast activity, SOST outperformed iPTH ¹¹⁴. In maintenance hemodialysis patients, a significant negative correlation was observed between serum sclerostin levels and log iPTH ^{115,116}. Similarly, serum iPTH is associated with serum sclerostin in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis ¹¹⁷.

1.3.3 The importance of interactions between sclerostin and parathyroid hormone

Based on previous preclinical and clinical studies, it is widely reported that SOST production is negatively regulated by PTH, which appears to be complex on bone metabolism in whole organisms. It has been found that continuous PTH treatment stimulates catabolic bone modeling, whereas intermittent PTH treatment stimulates anabolic bone modeling ¹¹⁸. Taken together with all previous findings, in animal models and humans, we assume that the anabolic properties of PTH may be mediated at least in part by inhibiting SOST production. These findings improve our understanding of mechanisms of the actions of PTH on bone. In addition, studies in dialysis patients are controversial on the roles of PTH and SOST in predicting mortality ^{4,86}. These conflicting outcomes may be due to the lack of studying the role of their relative levels. Thus, except further focusing on the separate effects of PTH and SOST, exploring their negative correlation and relative levels in dialysis patients were warranted.

On the other hand, pharmacologic therapy of PTH and its analogues, as well as inhibitors of SOST have been utilized in postmenopausal osteoporosis. Administration of PTH and its analogs teriparatide and abaloparatide, is often accompanied by side effects, including headache, nausea, dizziness, and leg cramps ¹¹⁹. Additionally. Animal studies showed PTH analogues were associated with osteosarcoma ¹¹⁹. Moreover, romosozumab, a monoclonal antibody to SOST, was reported to increase cardiovascular risk in osteoporosis patients ¹²⁰. The relevant adverse effects of these anabolic agents often give rise to interruptions in the treatment of osteoporosis, and reduce the patients' life quality. Considering the negative association between PTH

and SOST, we assume that PTH and its analogues or anti-SOST antibodies can advantageously be reduced in dose without affecting the osteoporosis treatment effect to decrease the toxicity of these anabolic drugs. Therefore, measuring the dynamic variation of PTH and SOST may be beneficial to guide the osteoporosis therapy.

1.3.4 Potential mechanisms of interactions between sclerostin and parathyroid hormone

Currently, the precise mechanisms underlying how PTH downregulates SOST gene expression are not fully understood. PTH may directly bind to the SOST promoter region to inhibit its transcription, resulting in reduced SOST gene expression. Besides, there are other possible underlying mechanisms that have been proposed: Firstly, PTH may inhibit SOST gene expression by inducing proteasomal degradation of Runtrelated transcription factor 2 (Runx2), which is a transcription factor that regulates the expression of several bone-related genes, including SOST ¹²¹. Specifically, Runx2 has been shown to bind to the SOST promoter region and upregulate its transcription, leading to increased production of SOST, which is a key regulator of bone remodeling ¹²². By inducing proteasomal degradation of Runx2, PTH may therefore indirectly downregulate SOST gene expression and reduce SOST production. This mechanism may be particularly relevant in conditions such as osteoporosis, where increased sclerostin production by osteocytes is associated with impaired bone formation and increased risk of fractures. Secondly, PTH downregulates osteocyte-specific SOST expression by inhibiting the activity and/or expression of myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) in osteocytes ^{104,123}. MEF2 is a transcription factor that plays a crucial role in the transcriptional activation

of the SOST bone enhancer, which is important for the expression of SOST in osteocytes ¹²³⁻¹²⁵. Studies have shown that the expression of MEF2 and SOST is co-localized in osteoblasts, and the expression of three types of MEF2 genes (MEF2A, MEF2C, and MEF2D) is necessary for endogenous SOST expression in UMR-106 cells, which are a model of osteoblastic cells ¹²³. By inhibiting MEF2 activity or expression, PTH may therefore indirectly downregulate SOST gene expression in osteocytes and reduce sclerostin production. This mechanism may be associated with

INTRODUCTION

primary hyperparathyroidism, in which elevated levels of PTH are related to increased bone resorption and decreased bone density. Lastly, there have been several in vitro

studies demonstrating PTH inhibits SOST expression and protein levels primarily by activating cAMP/PKA downstream of the PTH1R ^{97,98,104}. Activation of the PTH1R by PTH leads to increased production of cAMP, which in turn activates PKA ¹²⁶. PKA can then phosphorylate various downstream targets, including transcription factors and coregulators that regulate gene expression, and also promote proteasomal degradation of SOST protein. One study found that PTH-induced downregulation of SOST expression in osteocytes was dependent on PKA activation, and that inhibition of PKA activity or cAMP production attenuated the effects of PTH on SOST expression was dependent on cAMP/PKA activation, and that the effects of PTH could be mimicked by treatment with a cAMP analog ¹²⁷ (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Mechanisms of interaction between PTH and SOST. Osteocytes can simultaneously express PTH1R and SOST. The binding of PTH and PTH1R activates the cAMP/PKA signaling pathway, inhibiting SOST gene expression. Furthermore, the binding of PTH and PTH1R can impede the actions and/or expression of MEF2 in osteocytes, which, in turn, can impact the transcriptional activation of the SOST bone enhancer, inhibiting SOST expression. Additionally, the interactions of PTH and PTH1R can promote the degradation of Runx2, facilitating SOST production. As a result, increased Runx2 degradation decreases SOST formation. This figure is on my own elaboration.

1.4 Aim of the study

One of our previous publications showed that that only bioactive PTH peptides, including n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH, can stimulate FGF23 production in UMR106 cells in vitro experiments. Based on the findings of the studies mentioned all above, it is clear that PTH was negatively associated with SOST in animal and human studies. In addition, it is widely reported that n-oxPTH and oxPTH have different bioactivities. Furthermore, prior studies conducted both in vitro and in vivo strongly suggested that it would be advantageous to investigate inverse relationships between PTH and SOST in the future. As a part of this study, we explored the direct effects of various PTH peptides, such as n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH on SOST mRNA expression in cell cultures. Moreover, considering that four forms of PTH are present in organisms, including n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, it is unclear how n-oxPTH interacts with oxPTH, or how various forms of oxPTH interact with one another. Further investigations were conducted in vitro to explore the effects of different combinations of four PTH peptides on the expression of the SOST gene.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Materials

2.1.1. Cell lines and cell culture material

The UMR106 rat osteoblast-like cells (ATCC, CRL-1661) were characterized by the response to PTH, bone-resorbing steroids, and prostaglandins. The cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) high glucose with 4,5 g/L glucose (L-glutamine) and supplemented with 5% fetal calf serum and penicillin (100 ug/ml) / streptomycin (100 ug/ml).

The UMR106 cells were separately activated with four forms of PTH peptides including n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides at doses of 1, 3, 20, 30 nmol/l. As well, we tested two types of combinations of various PTH peptides in vitro, including n-oxPTH + Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides and Met18 (ox)-PTH + Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides to stimulate the UMR106 cells using the same conditions as activation using separate PTH peptides. Four forms of PTH peptides were purchased from JPT Peptide Technologies GmbH, Berlin, Germany, same as used by Zeng et al. recently ³⁶.

2.1.2 Chemicals and reagents

The chemicals used in this study are shown in Table 1. The related reagents and kits, as well as their order number and manufacturer, are described in Table 2. Moreover, the related TaqMan assays are presented in Table 3.

Name	Manufacturer
CASY-ton	Roche (Germany)
Chloroform	Carl Roth (Germany)
DMEM, high glucose	Invitrogen (USA)
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma-Aldrich (Germany)
dNTP-Mix (dATP, dTTP, dCTP, dGTP)	Carl Roth (Germany)
Ethanol	Sigma-Aldrich (Germany)
FBS	Life Technologies (Germany)
Isopropanol	Merck (Germany)
Met8 (ox)-PTH	JPT Peptide Technologies (Germany)
Met18 (ox)-PTH	JPT Peptide Technologies (Germany)
Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH	JPT Peptide Technologies (Germany)
n-oxPTH	JPT Peptide Technologies (Germany)
PBS 10×	Invitrogen (Germany)
Penicillin/streptomycin	Sigma-Aldrich (Germany)
RNase Inhibitor	Applied Biosystems (USA)
Trizol Regent	Life Technologies (Germany)
TrypLETM Express 10×	Invitrogen (Germany)
TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix system	Applied Biosystems (USA)

Table 1. Chemicals used in this Study

Table 2. Reagents and Kits used in this Study

Name	Catalog	Manufacturer			
	Number				
DNA-freeTM Kit (DNase Treatment and	AM1906	Invitrogen (Germany)			
Removal Reagents)					
High-capacity cDNA reverse Transcription	4368814	Applied Biosystems (USA)			
Kit					

Table 3. TaqMan Assays

Gene name	Species	Assay ID	Manufacturer
SOST	Rat	Rn00577971_m1; 4453320	Applied Biosystems (USA)
β-actin	Rat	4351370	Applied Biosystems (USA)

2.1.3 Devices and equipment

The name and manufacturers of devices and equipment used in this study are listed in Table 4.

Table 4. Devices and Equipment used in this Stud

Name	Manufacturer
ABI StepOne plus Real-Time PCR System	Applied Biosystems (USA)
ABI 2720 Thermal Cycler	Applied Biosystems (USA)
Autoclave Typ ELVC 5075	SysTec GmbH (Germany)
CASY cell counter	Schärfe Systems (Germany)
Centrifuge Biofuge Pico/ Fresco/ Primo R	Heraeus (Germany)
GraphPad Prism 9.0	GraphPad Software (USA)
Laminar flow hood	Heraeus GmbH (Germany)
Light microscope DMIL	Leica (Germany)
Incubator for Cell culture HERAcell 150i	Heraeus GmbH (Germany)
Microplate-Reader infinite M200	Tecan (Germany)
Pipette Research	Eppendorf (Germany)
Shaker Vortex REAX 2000	Heidolph (Germany)
Thermoblock TechneDri-Block® DB-2D	Biostep GmbH (Germany)

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Cell culture

The cryogenic vials of the UMR106 rat osteoblast-like cell lines were taken from the -80°C freezer and quickly melted by gentle agitation in a water bath at 37°C for approximately two minutes. The O-ring and cap were always kept out of direct contact with the water to reduce the possibility of contamination. The vial was removed from the water bath as soon as the contents were thawed and decontaminated by dipping in or spraying with 70% ethanol. Subsequently, the vial contents were rapidly transferred into a 75 cm² tissue culture flask with a pre-heated complete culture medium. The cell lines were then incubated in a suitable incubator at 37°C in a 5% CO2 solution in an air atmosphere and could grow adherently at the bottom of the flask. Medium renewals were performed two to three times per week.

The cells were passaged until 70 - 80% of confluence was achieved. In light of the subculturing procedure, the medium was removed, and the cells were rinsed with 1 × PBS once. Subsequently, the solution was removed, and 3 ml of 1% triple solution was added. The flask was incubated at 37°C until the cells detached. Thereafter, the cells were passaged with a sub-cultivation ratio of 1:2 or 1:6 and transferred into new culture flasks with fresh culture medium.

The number of cells was evaluated through the cell counter. Cells were seeded in sixwell plates with 0.6 × 10⁶ per well. The UMR106 osteoblast-like cells were grown for 24 hours with 2 ml per well and then removed from the previous medium before adding an equal volume of fresh culture medium into each well. The cells were treated with or without the different types of PTH 1-34 derivatives, such as n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides with doses of 1 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 20 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, for additional 24 hours. Similarly, we used various combinations of PTH peptides to stimulate the UMR106 cells including n-oxPTH (concentrations: 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l) + Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH (concentrations: 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l) peptides and Met18 (ox)-PTH (concentrations: 10 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l) + Met8, Met18(di-ox)-PTH (concentrations: 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l) peptides under the same conditions. Thereafter, the supernatant and cells were harvested for the subsequent experiments.

2.2.2 RNA isolation

The collected cell samples were washed with 1 × PBS three times, and then 0.5 ml Trizol reagent was added per well. Finally, the cells were homogenized by pipetting up and down. The homogenized solutions were incubated for 5-10 minutes at room temperature to permit complete dissociation of the nucleoprotein complex. Subsequently, we added 0.1 ml of chloroform and vigorously shook the samples for 15 seconds. After incubating at room temperature for two to three minutes, we centrifuged the samples for 15 minutes at $12,000 \times g$ at 4°C. Subsequently, we transferred the samples to the aqueous phase, including the RNA, to fresh tubes and added 1ul of glycogen into each EP tube before adding 0.25 ml of isopropanol to the agueous phase and incubating them for 10 minutes at room temperature. Thereafter, the aqueous phase was centrifuged for 10 minutes at 12,000 × g at 4°C. Subsequently, total RNA precipitated and a white gel-like pellet formed on the side of the tube. Next, the supernatant was discarded, and we washed the pellet with 1 ml of 75% ethanol and centrifuged the mixture at 7500 × g for 5 minutes at 4°C. Again, the supernatant was removed until no liquid was visible, and we airdried the pellets for 5-10 minutes. Finally, we redissolved the RNA pellets in 20-30 µl nuclease-free (NF) H₂O (NFH₂O) according to the size of the pellets and stored them at -80°C for the following trials.

2.2.3 RNA purification

The procedure for RNA purification is as follows: RNA samples were added as DNase digestion reagents, including 10 x DNase I Buffer and rDNase I, and then mixed gently and incubated at 280 rpm for 20-30 minutes at 37°C. Subsequently, the RNA samples were resuspended by adding a DNase inactivation reagent. After that, we mixed them well before incubating the RNA samples at room temperature for 2 minutes. Then, the samples were centrifuged for 1.5 minutes at 10000 × g. Finally, we transferred the RNA

samples into fresh tubes. Then, concentrations of total RNA were assessed using UV spectroscopy by measuring the absorbance of a diluted RNA sample at 260nm. The equation is A260 × dilution factor × 40 ug/ml = μ g RNA/ml. The volume details are described in Table 5.

Table 5. Components of DNA Free Kit

Reagents	Volume
10 x DNase I Buffer	0.1 volume based on the volume of Nuclease free water
rDNase I	1µI
DNase Inactivation Reagent	0.1 volume based on the volume of Nuclease free water

2.2.4 cDNA synthesis

In the cDNA reverse transcription (RT) system, 1 μ g total RNA was added per 20 μ l reaction using a high-capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit. We prepared the 10 μ l mixture containing 1 μ g RNA sample and NFH₂O. Then we prepared an RT master mix using high-capacity cDNA reverse Transcription Kit, including RT Buffer, dNTP Mix, RT Random Primers, Reverse Transcriptase, RNase Inhibitor, and Nuclease free. Subsequently, we added 10 μ l cDNA synthesis master mix into each 10 μ l RNA mixture. Thereafter, the tubes with the 20 μ l reaction were mixed completely and then briefly centrifuged to spin down all contents to the bottom of the tubes. Finally, the prepared mixtures were immediately placed in the thermocycler for cDNA synthesis.

Details about the RT master mix are shown in Table 6. The cDNA synthesis conditions are described in Table 7. All procedures were performed on ice. After cDNA synthesis was complete, cDNA products were stored at -20 °C until the next experiments.

Component	Volume/Reaction (µI)
10 x RT Buffer	2.0
25 x dNTP Mix (100mM)	0.8
10 x RT Random Primers	2.0
MultiScrie TM Reverse Transcriptase	1.0
RNase Inhibitor	1.0
Nuclease-free H ₂ O	3.2

Table 6. cDNA Synthesis Materials

Table 7. cDNA Synthesis Conditions

Thermal Condition	าร				
Temperature (°C)	25	37	85	4	
Time (minutes)	10	120	5	∞	

2.2.5 Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR)

To begin with, 9 μ l cDNA was pipetted in each well of the 96-well plate with 0.5 μ l synthesized cDNA and 8.5 μ l Nuclease free water per well. Then we mixed TaqMan fast advanced master mix with SOST or actin assays with a ratio of 10:1 to make assay mixtures and mixed them completely by carefully pipetting up and down. Next, we added 11 μ l assay mixtures into each well and sealed the 96-well reaction plate with a foil cover using the brown-colored applicator. Finally, the plate was centrifuged briefly to spin down the samples to the bottom of the wells and discharge the air bubbles. Then we loaded the plate in the ABI StepOneTM plus RT-PCR machine. Every sample was in three-fold replicates along with endogenous controls. We made a no-template control for each experiment containing only the assay mixtures and NFH₂O. All steps were performed on ice. The details in the TaqMan master mix system and the setting parameters of the StepOne plus machine are presented in Tables 8 and 9. The measured Cycle threshold (Ct) values were normalized using beta-2-microglobulin and expressed as fold-over control samples.

PCR Reaction Mix Component	Volume per 20 µl Reaction for Three
	Replicates (µI)
cDNA	0.5
TaqMan master mix	10
SOST assay/Actin assay	1
NFH ₂ O	8.5

Table 8. TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix System

Table 9 Plate Experiment Parameters for TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays

Thermal Cycling Conditions				
Stage	Temperature (°C)	Time (minutes : seconds)		
Hold	50	02:00		
Hold	95	02:00		
Cycle	95	00:01		
(40 Cycles)	60	00:20		

2.2.6 Statistical analysis

One-way ANOVA test was used to compare SOST gene expression in cultured UMR106 osteoblast-like cells induced by n-oxPTH and different forms of oxPTH-peptides, as well as different combinations of four forms of PTH peptides, followed by Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. The significance was defined if a p-value was less than 0.05. All data were analyzed using SPSS software for Windows (version 26; IBM, Chicago, IL, USA) and GraphPad Prism 9.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc. La Jolla. California, USA).

3 RESULTS

3.1 Separate effect of PTH peptides on SOST expression in cultured cells

To investigate how oxidized and non-oxidized PTH influence the SOST gene expression, we performed the cell culture experiment using UMR106 osteoblast-like cells. In this study, we stimulated UMR106 cells using n-oxPTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, and Met8 (ox)-PTH peptides for 24 hours in the incubator with the various concentrations: 1nmol/I, 3nmol/I, 20nmol/I, and 30 nmol/I, respectively. The levels of SOST expression were measured by qRT-PCR (Figure 4 a–d).

Our findings show that the n-oxPTH peptide strongly inhibited the SOST production in UMR106 cells, followed by Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides. The Met8 (ox)-PTH had the weakest inhibitory impact on SOST gene expression in cell culture. As for all forms of PTH peptides, the levels of SOST inhibition were dependent on doses of PTH peptides. When compared with the control group, we can see that all dosages of n-oxPTH peptides significantly decreased the SOST mRNA levels in UMR106 cells (P < 0.001) (Figure. 4a). However, there was no difference between various concentrations of n-oxPTH peptides (P > 0.05). Similarly, Met18 (ox)-PTH markedly inhibited the gene expression of SOST at all dosages (1, 3, 20, 30 nmol/l) (P < 0.001) (Figure. 4b). Moreover, Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides led to a relatively weak inhibition of SOST gene expression at all dosages (1, 3, 20, 30 nmol/l) (P < 0.05) (Figure. 4c). However, Met8 (ox)-PTH peptides slightly impeded the SOST mRNA levels only at the concentrations of 20 nmol/l and 30 nmol/l. Notably, the intergroup difference of only occurred in Met8 (ox)-PTH peptides between concentrations of 1 nmol/l and 30 nmol/l (P < 0.05) in this study (Figure. 4d).



Figure 4. Effects of n-oxPTH and various forms of oxPTH on SOST gene expression in UMR106 rat osteoblast-like cells (a-d). We cultured the cells for the first 24 hours and then treated them with or without various PTH 1-34 derivatives for another 24 hours at 1, 3, 20, and 30 nmol/l, respectively. The experiment was repeated at least six times, and the levels of SOST mRNA expression were measured by qRT-PCR. **a and b** In terms of n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides, all dosages caused a significant decrease in SOST gene expression when compared with negative controls (P < 0.001). **c** A similar trend was also observed in the Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides, despite a relatively slight inhibition in contrast to negative controls (P < 0.05). **d** However, the Met8 (ox)-PTH peptides inhibited the SOST mRNA synthesis only at dosages of 20 and 30 nmol/l, instead of low dosages of 1 and 3 nmol/l when compared with negative control (P < 0.05). Moreover, a significant intergroup difference was observed between 1 nmol/l and 30 nmol/l of Met8 (ox)-PTH. The x-axis means the different concentrations. The y-axis represents the relative SOST expression. All data were calculated using one-way ANOVA test, after that, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test was performed. * P<0.05, "P<0.01, "** P<0.001 vs. negative control group. # P<0.05, indicates 1 nmol/l vs. 3

nmol/I Met8(ox)-PTH peptides. I bars indicate standard deviation. Note: Partial results of this work were accepted on: Pflügers Archiv - European Journal of Physiology, Feb 2024.

3.2 Effect of combination of non-oxidized PTH and oxidized PTH peptides on sclerostin in cultured cells

To observe the direct interaction of n-oxPTH with oxPTH, and how this interaction affects the SOST gene expression, we further activated UMR106 cells using combinations of n-oxPTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides in vitro. In this study, the applied concentrations of n-oxPTH peptides included 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, and 100 nmol/l, respectively.

As for figure 5 (A-C), we found that all combinations of n-oxPTH with Met8, Met18 (diox)-PTH peptides significantly inhibited the expression of the SOST gene with regardless of various concentrations of n-oxPTH peptides when compared with the negative control (P < 0.001). In addition, the inhibition of SOST by the addition of different concentrations of 0 nmol/I, 3 nmol/I, 10 nmol/I, 30 nmol/I, 100 nmol/I Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides to n-oxPTH was no significant difference.





Figure 5. Effectiveness of co-stimulation of n-oxPTH and oxPTH on SOST gene expression (A-C). The UMR106 were incubated under the same conditions as the figure 4

described. The difference was used the different stimulations to treat UMR106 cell lines. In this part, we combined three concentrations of n-oxPTH peptides with five concentrations of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides separately. The experiment was repeated at least six times, and the levels of SOST mRNA expression were measured by qRT-PCR. **A** The concentration of n-oxPTH was 100 nmol/l for each 6-well except for negative control, and combined with 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, and 100 nmol/l of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH in each 2 µl medium, respectively. **B and C** The concentrations of n-oxPTH were changed to 10 nmol/l and 3 nmol/l, respectively. Other conditions were the same as A. The x-axis means the different concentrations of combination of n-oxPTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides. The y-axis represents the relative SOST expression. The statistical analysis method was the same as the figure 4. **** P<0.0001 vs. negative control group. I bars indicate standard deviation.

3.3 Effect of combination of various oxidized PTH peptides on sclerostin in cultured cells

To investigate the interplay between different forms of PTH peptides, and the effects of their coexistence on SOST expression, we activated the UMR106 cell lines using Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides at different doses (Figure 6 iii). In this study, we combined Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides at doses of 10 nmol/l and 100 nmol/l with various concentrations of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides including 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l, respectively.

The findings showed that all combinations of Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides markedly decrease the generation of SOST with regardless of concentrations of Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides in contrast to the negative control (P < 0.01). Moreover, there was no statistical difference found on the inhibition of SOST gene expression among other groups. The addition of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH to Met18 (ox)-PTH in vitro did not affect the effect of Met18 (ox)-PTH on SOST production.



Figure 6. Inhibitory effect of co-stimulation of Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH on SOST gene expression (i, ii). The cells were activated by Met18 (ox)-PTH with doses of 10 nmol/l and 100 nmol/l, and separately combined with Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH with concentrations of 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, and 100 nmol/l in each 2 µl medium. Other conditions were same as the figure 4 and the figure 5. The experiment was repeated at least six times, and the levels of SOST mRNA expression were measured by qRT-PCR. i The concentration of Met18 (ox)-PTH was 100 nmol/l for each 6-well except for negative control, and combined with 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10, nmol/l 30 nmol/l, and 100 nmol/l of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, respectively. ii Met18 (ox)-PTH concentration was decreased to 10 nmol/l. The x-axis means the different concentrations of combination of Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides. The y-axis represents the relative SOST expression. The statistical description was the same as the figure 4. **P<0.01, *** P<0.001, **** P<0.0001 vs. negative control group. I bars indicate standard deviation.

4 DISCUSSION

Our findings found that effects of n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides on SOST gene expression are more pronounced than effects of Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH in cultured UMR106 osteoblast-like cells. Additionally, both co-stimulation of n-oxPTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides, as well as Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides, as well as Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides significantly inhibit SOST production in vitro. Our primary findings showed that Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH did not interact with either n-oxPTH or Met18 (ox)-PTH in ex vivo.

Cell culture and animal studies were initially used to investigate the association between SOST and PTH. As Keller and Kneissel demonstrated, in a mouse model of local bone formation, SOST mRNA expression in PTH-treated calvariae after the last hPTH 1-34 administration was significantly decreased when compared to vehicletreated calvariae ⁹⁷. Moreover, it has been shown that rPTH (1-34) treatment at a dose of 80 ug/kg six hours after the single injection of rPTH (1-34) significantly decreased the expression of SOST in the femur of estrogen-deprived six-month-old rats treated with rPTH (1-34) (5 ug/kg) in vivo ⁹⁷. Experiments conducted in vitro also demonstrated similar trends. There was a dose-response trend of hPTH (1-34) in UMR-106 cells, also PTH inhibited the expression of SOST genes in both calvaria cultures and osteosarcoma cells ⁹⁷. In the same year, Bellido et al. reported that after continuous infusion of PTH using a microcosmic pump for four days in mice, SOST mRNA expression in vertebral bone decreased by 80 - 90%, which was accompanied by a significant reduction of SOST protein in osteocytes by quantitative immunoblots analysis and immunostaining ⁹⁸. Meanwhile, according to in vitro experiments, PTH inhibits SOST expression in cells cultured from primary neonatal murine calvaria cells and osteocytic MLO-A5, suggesting that PTH affects this type of cell directly ⁹⁸. Moreover, after a single injection of PTH, the SOST mRNA was transiently reduced by 50% within two hours ⁹⁸. In contrast to continuous infusion of PTH, the intermittent administration of PTH by daily injections for four days did not affect levels of SOST mRNA and protein in the bones of animals ⁹⁸. Their findings found the effects of continuous administration and intermittent administration of PTH on SOST production are controversial ⁹⁸ - a finding that is also inconsistent with the results from the study conducted by Keller et al 97.

To further explore the effects of PTH administration on SOST, subsequently, Silvestrini et al. conducted a study about the actions of intermittent administration of PTH on SOST expression in three distinct bone segments of the rat tibia - metaphyseal, epiphyseal, and cortical diaphyseal bones ¹⁰⁰. After intermittent PTH administration, they showed that SOST mRNA and protein levels decreased in all three areas ¹⁰⁰. Moreover, Prediaux et al. showed that PTH significantly suppressed SOST mRNA levels in mesenchymal progenitor cell lines ⁹⁹. In the mice model's mandibular condylar cartilage and subchondral bone, PTH administration decreased SOST staining density ¹⁰¹, and Yam et al. showed PTH (1-34) decreased SOST. Similarly, Yam et al. demonstrated that compared to the controls, PTH (1-34) treatment decreased SOST expression in the cartilage by immunohistochemical staining ¹⁰². Moreover, increased serum PTH levels in PHPT mice decreased circulation, SOST levels, and sclerostin expression in calvaria ¹⁰³. Taken together, both in vitro and in vivo studies have demonstrated that PTH directly decreases SOST levels. In line with the findings of previous in vitro and in vivo studies, we found that the administration of PTH peptides significantly inhibited the SOST gene expression for 24 hours in UMR106 cells. However, this study underlined the biological activity of PTH is affected by its oxidation, first suggesting only biological forms of PTH downregulate SOST production.

Methionine (Met) residues of proteins can be easily oxidized to form methionine sulfoxide by many oxidants produced in biological systems, including hydroxyl radicals, H₂O₂, chloramine, and hypochlorite. The oxidation of Met caused a loss of protein bioactivity within organisms ¹²⁸. As a key hormone regulating calcium and phosphate metabolism, PTH can be oxidized at Met residues 8 and 18 in vivo, resulting in a mixture of three variations such as Met8, Met18, and Met8 together with Met18. In contrast to Met18, Met8 is less easily oxidized due to its location in a hydrophobic pocket ²¹. The oxidized Mets within PTH accompany conformational changes of PTH ²³. Previous studies reported that the oxidation at position Met18 has the smallest impact on secondary structure when compared with oxidized Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, which means the conformation of Met18 PTH is more similar to that of n-oxPTH ²³. In addition, the oxidation of both Mets, namely, Met8, Met18(di-ox)-PTH, gives rise to substantial changes, which are greater than the sum of independently oxidized Met residues ²³. The differences in conformation changes lead to differences in the biological activity of various forms of PTH. Preclinical research

37

proved that Met18 (ox)-PTH maintains biological action, while Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH possess less or no bioactivities ²³. In this study, we used four types of PTH peptides such as n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH under concentrations of 1 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 20 nmol/l, and 30 nmol/l to stimulate UMR106 rat osteoblast-like cells for 24 hours. Our findings showed that both n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides at all doses markedly inhibited the production of SOST mRNA through qRT-PCR compared with negative controls. The inhibition of SOST gene expression declined with the increase in PTH peptides. However, the inhibition of SOST production by Met8 (ox)-PTH peptides was the weakest. Only high doses (20 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l) can inhibit SOST expression in vitro. One of our prior studies has observed the effects of different forms of oxidized PTH peptides on FGF23 mRNA expression³⁶. Zeng et al. showed that both n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides, but not Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, significantly stimulates FGF23 gene production UMR106 cells³⁶. Our in vitro experiments are generally in line with the outcomes of Zeng et al. in terms of the biological effects of n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH peptides on SOST expression using qRT-PCR (SYBR Green I Assay). Collectively, our study first found that only the bioactive forms of PTH, including noxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH, were capable of suppressing SOST gene expression, while other forms of PTH such as Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH did not have this effect. This finding is significant as it helps to further our understanding of the complex molecular mechanisms that regulate bone metabolism and the role that PTH plays in this process. It may also have implications for the development of new therapies for bone disorders such as osteoporosis, which are characterized by an imbalance in bone remodeling due to dysregulation of the SOST gene.

In order to investigate the interplay of n-oxPTH and oxPTH, as well as of different forms of oxPTH, we co-stimulated the UMR106 cells using various forms of PTH peptides. In this study, we found that the addition of oxPTH (Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH) to n-oxPTH did not affect the effect of n-oxPTH on SOST expression with regardless of low or high concentrations in cell cultures. Similarly, Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH did not interfere with the effect of Met18 (ox)-PTH on SOST production. Thus, we assume that there was no direct interaction between n-oxPTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, also between Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH. The explanation might be that Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH does not compete PTH1R with either n-oxPTH or Met18 (ox)-

PTH. The supportive evidence is based on the study from Hocher and his colleagues ³⁸. They suggested that oxidized PTH tends to face away from PTH1R. Thus, we assume that oxidized PTH is likely to free up space for biologically active PTH, including n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH, to bind PTH1R. Another possible explanation is that the interaction among four forms of PTH relies on the participation of some unknown factors in vivo in the real world. It should be noted that our in vitro study performed the combination of two forms of PTH in vitro, rather than the co-existence of all four forms of PTH in organisms. Therefore, our findings in the part might not be representative to reveal the actual interaction of four forms of PTH in vivo. Consequently, these experimental results only reflect interactions between some of the different PTH forms in vitro. Further, our findings showed that low concentrations of Met18 (ox)-PTH (100 nmol/l), which is inconsistent with the findings in the figure 4. The possible reasons are uneven cell counts or technical difficulties.

At present, the detailed mechanisms of inverse interaction between PTH and sclerostin remains unclear. According to previous studies, several assumptions can be made (Figure 3). To begin with, PTH inhibits SOST expression probably by inducing proteasomal degradation of Runx2¹²¹ - a SOST-dependent gene - and upregulates SOST production ¹²². This mechanism explains that continuous PTH stimulation markedly decreases the SOST gene expression and SOST protein in vitro and in vivo osteocytes, suggesting the direct impact of PTH on osteocytes ⁹⁸. Second, PTH downregulates osteocyte-specific SOST expression by inhibiting the activity and/or expression of myocyte enhancer factor 2 (MEF2) in osteocytes ^{104,123}, which is important for the transcriptional activation of the SOST bone enhancer ¹²³⁻¹²⁵. Moreover, the expressions of MEF2 and SOST were co-localized in osteoblasts, and the expressions of MEF2 genes, such as MEF2A, MEF2C, and MEF2D, were necessary for endogenous SOST expression in UMR-106 cells ¹²³. Similarly, in vivo experiments also demonstrated that MEF2C is required to control SOST expression levels ^{124,125}. Last but not least, many in vitro studies have proven that PTH-induced inhibition of SOST mRNA and sclerostin levels is direct and primarily mediated by the activation of the cAMP / protein kinase A system (PKA) signaling pathway downstream of PTH1R ^{97,98,104}. To elucidate this mechanism, Keller et al.

pretreated UMR-106 cells for 30 minutes using the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide (CHX) and then treated the cells with 10 nm hPTH (1-34) or not. The researchers found that PTH stably suppresses SOST expression in UMR-106 cells with or without CHX treatment ⁹⁷. Moreover, PTH1R can activate the cAMP / PKA signal transduction pathway - the only signaling that has been proven to be associated with anabolic effects in bone ⁹⁷. The inhibitory effect of cAMP inducer forskolin on SOST is comparable to that of PTH ⁹⁷. These findings supported that the direct activation of cAMP signaling by PTH1R can directly inhibit SOST expression. Overall, while the exact mechanisms of how PTH downregulates SOST gene expression are not fully understood, current research suggests that it likely involves a complex interplay of multiple signaling pathways and regulatory factors. Further studies are needed to fully elucidate the underlying mechanisms of the inverse relationship between PTH and SOST which would be beneficial for the treatment of relevant diseases in clinical practice, such as osteoporosis and hyperparathyroidism.

Several limitations need to be considered in this study when interpreting its findings. To begin with, we observed various effects of n-oxPTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides on SOST mRNA expression in cell culture. In contrast, we did not assess the effects of different PTH peptides on the SOST protein expression levels. Secondly, we only used one type of cell lines in the study (UMR106 osteoblast-like cells). More evidence from other independent cell lines such as osteocytic MLO-A5 cells is also warranted which is beneficial to enhance our findings. Moreover, except for in vitro studies, SOST gene expression induced by n-oxPTH- and different forms of oxPTH-peptides appeals further researches on animal models. Third, we examined the effect of n-oxPTH and other forms of oxPTH on SOST production only after 24 hours. We should observe more time points, such as after 6 hours, 12 hours, and 18 hours. Last but not least, considering multiple previous studies focusing on intracellular signaling events such as the cAMP / PKA activation that occur upstream of PTH-induced SOST suppression, our current model lacks data on assessing effects of different PTH peptides on these signaling events. Thus, strengthened studies are needed to explore mechanisms of these upstream signaling events that lead to PTH-induced sclerostin suppression.

To conclude, the results of the present study suggest that the bioactive PTH, such as n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH, significantly inhibit SOST gene expression in vitro. In addition, we found that the co-existence of either n-oxPTH and oxPTH (Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH), or Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH did not interact with each other in cultured cells. The significant inhibitory effects of both n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH on SOST expression were not affected by the addition of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH in ex vivo. At present, the actual interaction among different forms of PTH in vivo remains unclear, more researches on mechanisms are needed in the near further.

SUMMARY

SOST is a negative regulator of bone homeostasis. It is mainly produced by osteocytes. PTH acts on bones, intestines, and kidneys to regulate calcium, phosphate and vitamin D metastasis. Previous preclinical and clinical studies have proved that SOST is inversely associated with PTH both in vitro and in vivo. Currently, the specific mechanisms of the negative association between SOST and PTH continue to be incompletely understood.

Two of the amino acids in PTH (positions 8 and 18) are easily oxidized in vivo. Prior studies have demonstrated that the oxidation of the PTH leads to a partial or complete loss of bioactive action, which depends on the specific oxidation position of the PTH. As a consequence, PTH oxidized at Met18 (Met18 (ox)-PTH) remains bioactive, whereas PTH oxidized at Met8 (Met8 (ox)-PTH) or both Met8 and Met18 together (Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH) shows little or no bioactivity. In organisms, four forms of PTH co-exist in the peripheral blood including non-oxidized PTH (n-oxPTH), Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH. Currently, it is unclear how n-oxPTH and different forms of oxPTH induce SOST inhibition, respectively. Moreover, how four types of PTH interact with one another, and how their interplay influences the inhibition of SOST have not been elucidated.

In this study, we evaluated different effects of four forms PTH peptides on the expression of the SOST gene in UMR106 osteoblast-like cells, which were separately activated by n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH for 24 hours. Our in vitro study found both n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH at doses of 1 nmol/I, 3 nmol/I, 20 nmol/I, 30 nmol/I significantly inhibit SOST gene expression, while Met8 (ox)-PTH has the weakest inhibition of SOST production. Based on our prior findings above, we primarily hypothesized that n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH can interact with one another, and their interplay can influence the SOST expression. Thus, we stimulated the UMR106 cells using two kinds of combinations of PTH peptides. One combination is n-oxPTH with concentrations of 3 nmol/I, 10 nmol/I, 10 nmol/I, 30 nmol/I, 100 nmol/I, 100

aim is to investigate the interaction between n-oxPTH and oxPTH. The other combination is Met18 (ox)-PTH with concentrations of 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH with concentrations of 0 nmol/l, 3 nmol/l, 10 nmol/l, 30 nmol/l, 100 nmol/l, respectively. We aimed to explore the interplay among various forms of oxPTH. However, our primary results in vitro were not inspiring. Our current study did not find the direct interaction either between n-oxPTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH, or between Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH. To strengthen our conclusions, further research design should be more complete including following improvements: (1) using different types of cell lines, such as osteocytic MLO-A5 cells lines or primary bone-derived cells to enhance our findings; (2) measuring the dynamic SOST gene expression by testing at different time points (such as after 6 hours, 12 hours, and 18 hours) to evaluate the changes of PTH-induced SOST inhibition over time; (3) assessing the effect of different forms of PTH on SOST expression at protein levels, measuring by the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay or Western blot; (4) building animal models to evaluate the inverse association of n-oxPTH, Met8 (ox)-PTH, Met18 (ox)-PTH, and Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH with SOST in vivo.

To conclude, bioactive PTH, including n-oxPTH and Met18 (ox)-PTH, inhibits SOST production in vitro significantly. Moreover, the addition of Met8, Met18 (di-ox)-PTH peptides to either n-oxPTH or Met18 (ox)-PTH did not affect effects of the n-oxPTH or the Met18 (ox)-PTH on SOST suppression.

REFERENCE

- 1. Silva, BC, Bilezikian, JP: Parathyroid hormone: anabolic and catabolic actions on the skeleton. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 22: 41-50, 2015.
- 2. Ursem, SR, Vervloet, MG, de Jongh, RT, Heijboer, AC: Oxidation of parathyroid hormone. *Clin Chim Acta*, 506: 84-91, 2020.
- 3. Evenepoel, P, Bover, J, Ureña Torres, P: Parathyroid hormone metabolism and signaling in health and chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 90: 1184-1190, 2016.
- 4. Drechsler, C, Krane, V, Grootendorst, DC, Ritz, E, Winkler, k, März, W, Dekker F, Wanner, C: The association between parathyroid hormone and mortality in dialysis patients is modified by wasting. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 24: 3151-3157, 2009.
- 5. Hedbäck, G, Odén, A: Increased risk of death from primary hyperparathyroidism--an update. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 28: 271-276,1998.
- 6. Nilsson, IL, Yin, L, Lundgren, E, Rastad, J, Ekbom, A: Clinical presentation of primary hyperparathyroidism in Europe--nationwide cohort analysis on mortality from nonmalignant causes. *J Bone Miner Res*, 17 Suppl 2: N68-74, 2002.
- 7. Kovesdy, CP, Ahmadzadeh, S, Anderson, JE, Kalantar-Zadeh, K: Secondary hyperparathyroidism is associated with higher mortality in men with moderate to severe chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 73: 1296-1302, 2008.
- 8. Palmer, SC, Hayen, A, Macaskill, P, Pellegrini, F, Craing, JC, Elder, GJ, Strippoli GFM: Serum levels of phosphorus, parathyroid hormone, and calcium and risks of death and cardiovascular disease in individuals with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 305: 1119-1127, 2011.
- 9. Block, GA, Klassen, PS, Lazarus, JM, Ofsthun, N, Lowrie, EG, Chertow, GM: Mineral metabolism, mortality, and morbidity in maintenance hemodialysis. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 15: 2208-2218, 2004.
- 10. Tentori, F, Blayney, MJ, Albert, JM, Gillespie BW, Kerr, PG, Bommer, J, Young EW, Akizawa, T, Pisoni, RL, Robinson, BM, Port, FK: Mortality risk for dialysis patients with different levels of serum calcium, phosphorus, and PTH: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). *Am J Kidney Dis*, 52: 519-530, 2008.
- 11. Melamed, ML, Eustace, JA, Plantinga, L, Jaar, BG, Fink NE, Coresh, J, Klag, MJ, Powe, NR: Changes in serum calcium, phosphate, and PTH and the risk of death in incident dialysis patients: a longitudinal study. *Kidney Int*, 70: 351-357, 2006.
- 12. Young, EW, Albert, JM, Satayathum, S, Goodkin, DA, Pisoni, RL, Akiba, T, Akizawa T, Kurokawa K, Bommer J, Piera L, Port FK: Predictors and consequences of altered mineral metabolism: the Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study. *Kidney Int*, 67: 1179-1187, 2005.
- 13. Noordzij, M, Korevaar, JC, Boeschoten, EW, Dekker, FW, Bos, WJ, Krediet, RT: The Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (K/DOQI) Guideline for Bone Metabolism and Disease in CKD: association with mortality in dialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 46: 925-932, 2005.
- 14. Avram, MM, Sreedhara, R, Avram, DK, Muchnick, RA, Fein, P: Enrollment parathyroid hormone level is a new marker of survival in hemodialysis and peritoneal dialysis therapy for uremia. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 28: 924-930,1996.
- 15. Avram, MM, Mittman, N, Myint, MM, Fein, P: Importance of low serum intact parathyroid hormone as a predictor of mortality in hemodialysis and peritoneal

dialysis patients: 14 years of prospective observation. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 38: 1351-1357, 2001.

- 16. Guh, JY, Chen, HC, Chuang, HY, Huang, SC, Chien, LC, Lai, YH: Risk factors and risk for mortality of mild hypoparathyroidism in hemodialysis patients. *Am J Kidney Dis*, 39: 1245-1254, 2002.
- 17. Cozzolino, M, Ciceri, P: Serum PTH levels in dialysis: better safe than sorry. *Ther Adv Endocrinol Metab*, 11: 2042018820974172, 2020.
- 18. Smyrli, M, Tsouka, G, Oikonomaki, T, Apostolou, T, Pistolas, D, Vougas, V: Determinants of Parathyroid Hormone Levels During the First Year After Kidney Transplantation. *Transplant Proc*, 53: 2771-2774, 2021.
- 19. Doi, Y, Hamano, T, Ichimaru, N, Tomida, K, Obi, Y, Fujii, N, Yamaguchi, S, Oka, T, Sakaguchi, Y, Matsui, L, Kaimori, JY, Abe, T, Imamura, R, Takahara, S, Tsubakihara, Y, Nonomura, N, Isaka, Y: Serum phosphate levels modify the impact of parathyroid hormone levels on renal outcomes in kidney transplant recipients. *Sci Rep*, 10: 13766, 2020.
- 20. Hocher, B, Armbruster, FP, Stoeva, S, Reichetzeder, C, Grön, HJ, Lieker, I, Khadzhynov, D, Slowinski, T, Roth, HJ: Measuring parathyroid hormone (PTH) in patients with oxidative stress--do we need a fourth generation parathyroid hormone assay? *PLoS One*, 7: e40242, 2012.
- 21. Chu, JW, Yin, J, Wang, DI, Trout, BL: A structural and mechanistic study of the oxidation of methionine residues in hPTH(1-34) via experiments and simulations. *Biochemistry*, 43(44):14139-14148, 2004.
- 22. Frelinger, AL, 3rd, Zull, JE: Oxidized forms of parathyroid hormone with biological activity. Separation and characterization of hormone forms oxidized at methionine 8 and methionine 18. *J Biol Chem*, 259: 5507-5513,1984.
- 23. Zull, JE, Smith, SK, Wiltshire, R: Effect of methionine oxidation and deletion of amino-terminal residues on the conformation of parathyroid hormone. Circular dichroism studies. *J Biol Chem*, 265: 5671-5676,1990.
- 24. John, MR, Goodman, WG, Gao, P, Cantor, TL, Salusky, IB, Jüppner, H: A novel immunoradiometric assay detects full-length human PTH but not amino-terminally truncated fragments: implications for PTH measurements in renal failure. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 84: 4287-4290, 1999.
- 25. CorrigendumCorrigendum to: "Clinical Guidelines and PTH measurement: Does Assay Generation Matter?". *Endocr Rev*, 41: bnaa021, 2020.
- 26. Ursem, SR, Heijboer, AC, D'Haese, PC, Behets, GJ, Cavalier, E, Vervloet, MG, Evenepoel, P: Non-oxidized parathyroid hormone (PTH) measured by current method is not superior to total PTH in assessing bone turnover in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int*, 99: 1173-1178, 2021.
- 27. Tweedy, WR, Bell, WP, Vicens-Rios, C: FURTHER CHEMICAL STUDIES ON A PARATHYROID HORMONE. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 108: 105-112, 1935.
- 28. Horiuchi, N: Effects of oxidation of human parathyroid hormone on its biological activity in continuously infused, thyroparathyroidectomized rats. *J Bone Miner Res*, 3: 353-358, 1988.
- 29. Rasmussen, H: Effect of oxidation and reduction upon the biological activity of parathyroid hormone. *Science*, 128: 1347-1348, 1958.
- 30. Hasan, AA, Hocher, CF, Kleuser, B, Krämer, BK, Hocher, B: Biological Activity of Different Forms of Oxidized Parathyroid Hormone. *Int J Mol Sci*, 23:12228, 2022.
- 31. Yee, JA: Stimulation of alkaline phosphatase activity in cultured neonatal mouse calvarial bone cells by parathyroid hormone. *Calcif Tissue Int*, 37: 530-538, 1985.

- 32. Yen, YC, Yang, MC, Kenny, AD, Pang, PK: Parathyroid hormone (PTH) fragments relax the guinea-pig trachea in vitro. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 61: 1324-1328, 1983.
- 33. Pang, PK, Yang MC, Kenny AD, Tenner TE, Jr: Structure and vascular activity relationship of parathyroid hormone and some hypotensive peptides. *Clin Exp Hypertens A*, 4: 189-199, 1982.
- 34. Laethem, R, Zull, JE: Characterization of the interaction of parathyroid hormone with the mitochondrial ATPase. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 282: 161-169, 1990.
- 35. Sham, JS, Kenny, AD, Pang, PK: Cardiac actions and structural--activity relationship of parathyroid hormone on isolated frog atrium. *Gen Comp Endocrinol*, 55: 373-377, 1984.
- 36. Zeng, S, Querfeld, U, Feger, M, Haffner, D, Hasan, AA, Chu, C, Slowinski, T, Bernd Dschietzig, T, Schäfer, F, Xiong, Y, Zhang, B, Rausch, S, Horvathova, K, Lang, F, Karl Krämer, B, Föller, M, Hocher, B: Relationship between GFR, intact PTH, oxidized PTH, non-oxidized PTH as well as FGF23 in patients with CKD. FASEB J, 34: 15269-15281, 2020.
- 37. Reichert, LE, Jr, L'Heureux, MV: Effect of dialysis and oxidation on plasma parathyroid hormone activity. *Acta Endocrinol (Copenh)*, 37: 148-152, 1961.
- 38. Hocher, B, Oberthür, D, Slowinski, T, Querfeld, U, Schaefer, F, Doyon, A, Tepel, M, Roth, HJ, Grön, HJ, Reichetzeder, C, Betzel, C, Armbruster, FP: Modeling of oxidized PTH (oxPTH) and non-oxidized PTH (n-oxPTH) receptor binding and relationship of oxidized to non-oxidized PTH in children with chronic renal failure, adult patients on hemodialysis and kidney transplant recipients. *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 37: 240-251, 2013.
- 39. Ursem, SR, Vervloet, MG, Hillebrand, JJG, de Jongh, RT, Heijboer, AC: Oxidation of PTH: in vivo feature or effect of preanalytical conditions? *Clin Chem Lab Med*, 56: 249-255, 2018.
- 40. Ganesh, SK, Stack, AG, Levin, NW, Hulbert-Shearon, T, Port, FK: Association of Elevated Serum PO (4), Ca x PO (4) Product, and Parathyroid Hormone with Cardiac Mortality Risk in Chronic Hemodialysis Patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol*, 12: 2131-2138, 2001.
- 41. Kalantar-Zadeh, K, Shah, A, Duong, U, Hechter, RC, Dukkipati, R, Kovesdy, CP: Kidney bone disease and mortality in CKD: revisiting the role of vitamin D, calcimimetics, alkaline phosphatase, and minerals. *Kidney Int Suppl*, S10-21, 2010.
- 42. Tepel, M, Armbruster, FP, Grön, HJ, Scholze, A, Reichetzeder, C, Roth, HJ, Hocher, B: Nonoxidized, biologically active parathyroid hormone determines mortality in hemodialysis patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 98: 4744-4751, 2013.
- 43. Godes, M, Reichetzeder, C, Tsuprykov, O, Chertow, G, Parfrey, P, Floege, J, Kubo, Y, Dehmel, B, Drüeke, T: *Non-Oxidized PTH (n-oxPTH) Is Associated with Cardiovascular Events and All-Cause Mortality in Patients with Secondary Hyperparathyroidism Undergoing Hemodialysis Who Participated in the EVOLVE Trial*, Conference: ASN 2014.
- 44. Lu, YP, Zeng, S, Chu, C, Hasan, AA, Slowinski, T, Yin, LH, Krämer, BK, Hocher, B: Non-oxidized PTH (n-oxPTH) is associated with graft loss in kidney transplant recipients. *Clin Chim Acta*, 508: 92-97, 2020.
- 45. Seiler-Mussler, S, Limbach, AS, Emrich, IE, Pickering, JW, Roth, HJ, Fliser, D, Heine, GH: Association of Nonoxidized Parathyroid Hormone with Cardiovascular and Kidney Disease Outcomes in Chronic Kidney Disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 13: 569-576, 2018.

- 46. Costa, AG, Bilezikian, JP. Sclerostin: therapeutic horizons based upon its actions. *Curr Osteoporos Rep*, 10: 64-72, 2012.
- 47. Krause, C, Korchynskyi, O, de Rooij, K, Weidauer, SE, de Gorter, DJ, van Bezooijen, RL, Hatsell, S, Economides, AN, Mueller, TD, Löwik, CW, ten Dijke, P: Distinct modes of inhibition by sclerostin on bone morphogenetic protein and Wnt signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem*, 285: 41614-41626, 2010.
- 48. Winkler, DG, Sutherland, MK, Geoghegan, JC, Yu, C, Hayes, T, Skonier, JE, Shpektor, D, Jonas, M, Kovacevich, BR, Staehling-Hampton, K, Appleby, M, Brunkow, ME, Latham, JA: Osteocyte control of bone formation via sclerostin, a novel BMP antagonist. *EMBO J*, 22: 6267-6276, 2003.
- 49. van Bezooijen, RL, Svensson, JP, Eefting, D, Visser, A, van der Horst, G, Karperien, M, Quax, PH, Vrieling, H, Papapoulos, SE, ten Dijke, P, Löwik, CW: Wnt but not BMP signaling is involved in the inhibitory action of sclerostin on BMP-stimulated bone formation. *J Bone Miner Res*, 22: 19-28, 2007.
- 50. van Bezooijen, RL, Roelen, BA, Visser, A, van der Wee-Pals, L, de Wilt, E, Karperien, M, Hamersma, H, Papapoulos, SE, ten Dijke, P, Löwik, CW: Sclerostin is an osteocyte-expressed negative regulator of bone formation, but not a classical BMP antagonist. *J Exp Med*, 199: 805-814, 2004.
- 51. Li, X, Zhang, Y, Kang, H, Liu, W, Liu, P, Zhang, J, Harris, SE, Wu, D: Targeted deletion of the sclerostin gene in mice results in increased bone formation and bone strength. *J Biol Chem*, 280: 19883-19887, 2005.
- 52. Li, C, Ominsky, MS, Tan, HL, Barrero, M, Niu, QT, Asuncion, FJ, Lee, E, Liu, M, Simonet, WS, Paszty, C, Ke, HZ: Increased callus mass and enhanced strength during fracture healing in mice lacking the sclerostin gene. *Bone*, 49: 1178-1185, 2011.
- 53. Yee, CS, Manilay, JO, Chang, JC, Hum, NR, Murugesh, DK, Bajwa, J, Mendez, ME, Economides, AE, Horan, DJ, Robling, AG, Loots GG: Conditional Deletion of Sost in MSC-Derived Lineages Identifies Specific Cell-Type Contributions to Bone Mass and B-Cell Development. *J Bone Miner Res*, 33: 1748-1759, 2018.
- 54. Ominsky, MS, Boyce, RW, Li, X, Ke, HZ: Effects of sclerostin antibodies in animal models of osteoporosis. *Bone*, 96: 63-75, 2017.
- 55. Stolina, M, Dwyer, D, Niu, QT, Villasenor, KS, Kurimoto, P, Grisanti, M, Han, CY, Liu, M, Li, X, Ominsky, MS, Ke, HZ, Kostenuik, PJ: Temporal changes in systemic and local expression of bone turnover markers during six months of sclerostin antibody administration to ovariectomized rats. *Bone*, 67: 305-313, 2014.
- 56. Li, X, Warmington, KS, Niu, QT, Asuncion, FJ, Barrero, M, Grisanti, M, Dwyer, D, Stouch, B, Thway, TM, Stolina, M, Ominsky, MS, Kostenuik, PJ, Simonet, WS, Paszty, C, Ke, HZ: Inhibition of sclerostin by monoclonal antibody increases bone formation, bone mass, and bone strength in aged male rats. *J Bone Miner Res*, 25: 2647-2656, 2010.
- 57. Van Buchem, FS, Hadders, HN, Ubbens, R: An uncommon familial systemic disease of the skeleton: hyperostosis corticalis generalisata familiaris. *Acta radiol*, 44: 109-120, 1955.
- 58. Truswell, AS: Osteopetrosis with syndactyly; a morphological variant of Albers-Schönberg's disease. *J Bone Joint Surg Br*, 40-B: 209-218, 1958.
- 59. Yamamoto, M, Yamauchi, M, Sugimoto, T: Elevated sclerostin levels are associated with vertebral fractures in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 98: 4030-4037, 2013.
- 60. García-Martín, A, Rozas-Moreno, P, Reyes-García, R, Morales-Santana, S,

García-Fontana, B, García-Salcedo, JA, Muñoz-Torres, M: Circulating levels of sclerostin are increased in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 97: 234-241, 2012.

- 61. Wu, Y, Xu, SY, Liu, SY, Xu, L, Deng, SY, He, YB, Xian, SC, Liu, YH, Ni, GX: Upregulated serum sclerostin level in the T2DM patients with femur fracture inhibits the expression of bone formation/remodeling-associated biomarkers via antagonizing Wnt signaling. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 21 : 470-478, 2017.
- 62. Gennari, L, Merlotti, D, Valenti, R, Ceccarelli, E, Ruvio, M, Pietrini, MG, Capodarca, C, Franci, MB, Campagna, MS, Calabrò, A, Cataldo, D, Stolakis, K, Dotta, F, Nuti, R: Circulating sclerostin levels and bone turnover in type 1 and type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 97: 1737-1744, 2012.
- 63. Čatalano, A, Pintaudi, B, Morabito, N, Di Vieste, G, Giunta, L, Bruno, ML, Cucinotta, D, Lasco, A, Di Benedetto, A: Gender differences in sclerostin and clinical characteristics in type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 171: 293-300, 2014.
- 64. Neumann, T, Hofbauer, LC, Rauner, M, Lodes, S, Kästner, B, Franke, S, Kiehntopf, M, Lehmann, T, Müller, UA, Wolf, G, Hamann, C, Sämann, A: Clinical and endocrine correlates of circulating sclerostin levels in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 80: 649-655, 2014.
- 65. Paccou, J, Mentaverri, R, Renard, C, Liabeuf, S, Fardellone, P, Massy, ZA, Brazier, M, Kamel, S: The relationships between serum sclerostin, bone mineral density, and vascular calcification in rheumatoid arthritis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99: 4740-4748, 2014.
- 66. Kanbay, M, Siriopol, D, Saglam, M, Kurt, YG, Gok, M, Cetinkaya, H, Karaman, M, Unal, HU, Oguz, Y, Sari, S, Eyileten, T, Goldsmith, D, Vural, A, Veisa, G, Covic, A, Yilmaz, MI: Serum Sclerostin and Adverse Outcomes in Nondialyzed Chronic Kidney Disease Patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99: E1854-E1861, 2014.
- 67. Gonçalves, FL, Elias, RM, dos Reis, LM, Graciolli, FG, Zampieri, FG, Oliveira, RB,

Jorgetti, V, Moysés, RM: Serum sclerostin is an independent predictor of mortality in hemodialysis patients. BMC Nephrol, 15: 190, 2014.

- 68. Viaene, L, Behets, GJ, Claes, K, Meijers, B, Blocki, F, Brandenburg, V, Evenepoel, P, D'Haese, PC: Sclerostin: another bone-related protein related to all-cause mortality in haemodialysis? *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 28: 3024-3030, 2013.
- 69. Drechsler, C, Evenepoel, P, Vervloet, MG, Wanner, C, Ketteler, M, Marx, N, Floege, J, Dekker, FW, Brandenburg, VM: High levels of circulating sclerostin are associated with better cardiovascular survival in incident dialysis patients: results from the NECOSAD study. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 30: 288-293, 2015.
- 70. Jean, G, Chazot, C, Bresson, E, Zaoui, E, Cavalier, E: High Serum Sclerostin Levels Are Associated with a Better Outcome in Haemodialysis Patients. *Nephron*, 132: 181-190, 2016.
- 71. Lips, L, de Roij van Zuijdewijn, CLM, Ter Wee, PM, Bots, ML, Blankestijn, PJ, van den Dorpel, MA, Fouque, D, de Jongh, R, Pelletier, S, Vervloet, MG, Nubé, MJ, Grooteman MPC: Serum sclerostin: relation with mortality and impact of hemodiafiltration. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 32: 1217-1223, 2017.
- 72. Kalousová, M, Dusilová-Sulková, S, Kuběna, AA, Zakiyanov, O, Tesař, V, Zima, T: Sclerostin levels predict cardiovascular mortality in long-term hemodialysis patients: A prospective observational cohort study. *Physiol Res*, 68: 547-558, 2019.

- 73. Sato, M, Hanafusa, N, Kawaguchi, H, Tsuchiya K, Nitta, K: A Prospective Cohort Study Showing No Association Between Serum Sclerostin Level and Mortality in Maintenance Hemodialysis Patients. *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 43: 1023-1033, 2018.
- 74. Delanaye, P, Krzesinski, JM, Warling, X, Moonen, M, Smelten, N, Médart, L, Bruyère, O, Reginster, JY, Pottel, H, Cavalier, E: Clinical and biological determinants of sclerostin plasma concentration in hemodialysis patients. *Nephron Clin Pract*, 128: 127-134, 2014.
- 75. Nowak, A, Artunc, F, Serra, AL, Pollock, E, Krayenbühl, PA, Müller, C, Friedrich, B: Sclerostin quo vadis? is this a useful long-term mortality parameter in prevalent hemodialysis patients? *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 40: 266-276, 2015.
- 76. Pelletier, S, Dubourg, L, Carlier, MC, Hadj-Aissa, A, Fouque, D. The relation between renal function and serum sclerostin in adult patients with CKD. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 8: 819-823, 2013.
- 77. Zhao, B, Chen, A, Wang, H, Cui, J, Sun, Y, Xu, L, Mao, Y: The relationship between sclerostin and carotid artery atherosclerosis in patients with stage 3-5 chronic kidney disease. *Int Urol Nephrol,* 52: 1329-1336, 2020.
- 78. Thambiah, S, Roplekar, R, Manghat, P, Fogelman, I, Fraser, WD, Goldsmith, D, Hampson, G: Circulating sclerostin and Dickkopf-1 (DKK1) in predialysis chronic kidney disease (CKD): relationship with bone density and arterial stiffness. *Calcif Tissue Int*, 90: 473-480, 2012.
- 79. Cejka, D, Marculescu, R, Kozakowski, N, Plischke, M, Reiter, T, Gessl, A, Haas, M: Renal elimination of sclerostin increases with declining kidney function. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99: 248-255, 2014.
- 80. Claes, KJ, Viaene, L, Heye, S, Meijers, B, d'Haese, P, Evenepoel, P: Sclerostin: Another vascular calcification inhibitor? *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 98: 3221-3228, 2013.
- 81. Li, M, Zhou, H, Yang, M, Xing, C: Relationship between serum sclerostin, vascular sclerostin expression and vascular calcification assessed by different methods in ESRD patients eligible for renal transplantation: a cross-sectional study. *Int Urol Nephrol*, 51: 311-323, 2019.
- 82. Bruzzese, A, Lacquaniti, A, Cernaro, V, Ricciardi, CA, Loddo, S, Romeo, A, Montalto, G, Costantino, G, Torre, F, Pettinato, G, Salamone, I, Aloisi, C, Santoro, D, Buemi, M: Sclerostin levels in uremic patients: a link between bone and vascular disease. *Ren Fail*, 38: 759-764, 2016.
- 83. Bonani, M, Rodriguez, D, Fehr, T, Mohebbi, N, Brockmann, J, Blum, M, Graf, N, Frey, D, Wüthrich, RP: Sclerostin blood levels before and after kidney transplantation. *Kidney Blood Press Res*, 39: 230-239, 2014.
- 84. Evenepoel, P, Goffin, E, Meijers, B, Kanaan, N, Bammens, B, Coche, E, Claes, K, Jadoul, M: Sclerostin Serum Levels and Vascular Calcification Progression in Prevalent Renal Transplant Recipients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 100: 4669-4676, 2015.
- 85. Hsu, BG, Liou, HH, Lee, CJ, Chen, YC, Ho, GJ, Lee, MC: Serum Sclerostin as an Independent Marker of Peripheral Arterial Stiffness in Renal Transplantation Recipients: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 95: e3300, 2016.
- 86. Zeng, S, Slowinski, T, Pommer, W, Hasan, AA, Gaballa, MMS, Lu, Y, Krämer, BK, Hocher, B: Sclerostin is an independent risk factor for all-cause mortality in kidney transplant recipients. *Clin Exp Nephrol*, 24: 1177-1183, 2020.
- 87. Cianciolo, G, Capelli, I, Angelini, ML, Valentini, C, Baraldi, O, Scolari, MP, Stefoni, S: Importance of vascular calcification in kidney transplant recipients. *Am J Nephrol*, 39: 418-426, 2014.

- 88. Yeo, FE, Villines, TC, Bucci, JR, Taylor, AJ, Abbott, KC: Cardiovascular risk in stage 4 and 5 nephropathy. *Adv Chronic Kidney Dis*, 11: 116-133, 2004.
- 89. Ojo, AO: Cardiovascular complications after renal transplantation and their prevention. *Transplantation*, 82: 603-611, 2006.
- 90. Kuipers, AL, Miljkovic, I, Carr, JJ, Terry, JG, Nestlerode, CS, Ge, Y, Bunker, CH, Patrick, AL, Zmuda, JM: Association of circulating sclerostin with vascular calcification in Afro-Caribbean men. *Atherosclerosis*, 239: 218-223, 2015.
- 91. Ress, C, Paulweber, M, Goebel, G, Willeit, K, Rufinatscha, K, Strobl, A, Salzmann, K, Kedenko, L, Tschoner, A, Staudacher, G, Iglseder, B, Tilg, H, Paulweber, B, Kaser, S: Circulating Wnt inhibitory factor 1 levels are associated with development of cardiovascular disease. *Atherosclerosis*, 273: 1-7, 2018.
- 92. Mirza, FS, Padhi, ID, Raisz, LG, Lorenzo, JA: Serum sclerostin levels negatively correlate with parathyroid hormone levels and free estrogen index in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95: 1991-1997, 2010.
- 93. Mödder, UI, Clowes, JA, Hoey, K, Peterson, JM, McCready, L, Oursler, MJ, Riggs, BL, Khosla, S: Regulation of circulating sclerostin levels by sex steroids in women and in men. *J Bone Miner Res*, 26: 27-34, 2011.
- 94. Mödder, UI, Hoey, KA, Amin, S, McCready, LK, Achenbach, SJ, Riggs, BL, Melton, LJ, 3rd, Khosla, S: Relation of age, gender, and bone mass to circulating sclerostin levels in women and men. *J Bone Miner Res*, 26: 373-379, 2011.
- 95. Pietrzyk, B, Wyskida, K, Ficek, J, Kolonko, A, Ficek, R, Więcek, A, Olszanecka-Glinianowicz, M, Chudek, J: Relationship between plasma levels of sclerostin, calcium-phosphate disturbances, established markers of bone turnover, and inflammation in haemodialysis patients. *Int Urol Nephrol,* 51: 519-526, 2019.
- 96. Robling, AG, Bellido, T, Turner, CH: Mechanical stimulation in vivo reduces osteocyte expression of sclerostin. *J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact,* 6: 354, 2006.
- 97. Keller, H, Kneissel, M: SOST is a target gene for PTH in bone. *Bone,* 37: 148-158, 2005.
- 98. Bellido, T, Ali, AA, Gubrij, I, Plotkin, LI, Fu, Q, O'Brien, CA, Manolagas, SC, Jilka, RL: Chronic elevation of parathyroid hormone in mice reduces expression of sclerostin by osteocytes: a novel mechanism for hormonal control of osteoblastogenesis. *Endocrinology*, 146: 4577-4583, 2005.
- 99. Prideaux, M, Wright, CS, Noonan, ML, Yi, X, Clinkenbeard, EL, Mevel, E, Wheeler, JA, Byers, S, Wijenayaka, AR, Gronthos, S, Sankar, U, White, KE, Atkins, GJ, Thompson, WR: Generation of two multipotent mesenchymal progenitor cell lines capable of osteogenic, mature osteocyte, adipogenic, and chondrogenic differentiation. *Sci Rep*, 11: 22593, 2021.
- 100. Silvestrini, G, Ballanti, P, Leopizzi, M, Sebastiani, M, Berni, S, Di Vito, M, Bonucci, E: Effects of intermittent parathyroid hormone (PTH) administration on SOST mRNA and protein in rat bone. *J Mol Histol*, 38: 261-269, 2007.
- 101. Dutra, EH, O'Brien, MH, Gutierrez, T, Lima, A, Nanda, R, Yadav, S: PTH [1-34]induced alterations predispose the mandibular condylar cartilage to mineralization. *Orthod Craniofac Res,* 20 Suppl 1: 162-166, 2017.
- 102. Yan, JY, Tian, FM, Wang, WY, Cheng, Y, Song, HP, Zhang, YZ, Zhang, L: Parathyroid hormone (1-34) prevents cartilage degradation and preserves subchondral bone micro-architecture in guinea pigs with spontaneous osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*, 22: 1869-1877, 2014.
- 103. Nagata, Y, Imanishi, Y, Tateishi, T, Miyaoka, D, Kurajoh, M, Arnold, A, Emoto, M: Parathyroid Hormone Regulates Circulating Levels of Sclerostin and FGF23 in a Primary Hyperparathyroidism Model. *J Endocr Soc*, 6: bvac027, 2022.

- 104. Kramer, I, Keller, H, Leupin, O, Kneissel, M: Does osteocytic SOST suppression mediate PTH bone anabolism? *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 21: 237-244, 2010.
- 105. Rhee, Y, Allen, MR, Condon, K, Lezcano, V, Ronda, AC, Galli, C, Olivos, N, Passeri, G, O'Brien, CA, Bivi, N, Plotkin, LI, Bellido, T: PTH receptor signaling in osteocytes governs periosteal bone formation and intracortical remodeling. *J Bone Miner Res*, 26: 1035-1046, 2011.
- 106. Powell, WF, Jr, Barry, KJ, Tulum, I, Kobayashi, T, Harris, SE, Bringhurst, FR, Pajevic, PD: Targeted ablation of the PTH/PTHrP receptor in osteocytes impairs bone structure and homeostatic calcemic responses. *J Endocrinol*, 209: 21-32, 2011.
- 107. Saini, V, Marengi, DA, Barry, KJ, Fulzele, KS, Heiden, E, Liu, X, Dedic, C, Maeda, A, Lotinun, S, Baron, R, Pajevic, PD: Parathyroid hormone (PTH)/PTH-related peptide type 1 receptor (PPR) signaling in osteocytes regulates anabolic and catabolic skeletal responses to PTH. *J Biol Chem*, 288: 20122-20134, 2013.
- 108. Kramer, I, Loots, GG, Studer, A, Keller, H, Kneissel, M: Parathyroid hormone (PTH)-induced bone gain is blunted in SOST overexpressing and deficient mice. *J Bone Miner Res*, 25: 178-189, 2010.
- 109. Costa, AG, Cremers, S, Rubin, MR, McMahon, DJ, Sliney, J, Jr, Lazaretti-Castro M, Silverberg SJ, Bilezikian JP: Circulating sclerostin in disorders of parathyroid gland function. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 96: 3804-3810, 2011.
- 110. Van Lierop, AH, Witteveen, JE, Hamdy, NA, Papapoulos, SE: Patients with primary hyperparathyroidism have lower circulating sclerostin levels than euparathyroid controls. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 163: 833-837, 2010.
- 111. Yu, EW, Kumbhani, R, Siwila-Sackman, E, Leder, BZ: Acute decline in serum sclerostin in response to PTH infusion in healthy men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 96: E1848-1851, 2011.
- 112. Ardawi, MS, Al-Sibiany, AM, Bakhsh, TM, Rouzi, AA, Qari, MH: Decreased serum sclerostin levels in patients with primary hyperparathyroidism: a cross-sectional and a longitudinal study. *Osteoporos Int*, 23: 1789-1797, 2012.
- 113. Drake, MT, Srinivasan, B, Mödder, UI, Peterson, JM, McCready, LK, Riggs, BL, Dwyer, D, Stolina, M, Kostenuik, P, Khosla, S: Effects of parathyroid hormone treatment on circulating sclerostin levels in postmenopausal women. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 95: 5056-5062, 2010.
- 114. Cejka, D, Herberth, J, Branscum, AJ, Fardo, DW, Monier-Faugere, MC, Diarra, D, Haas, M, Malluche, HH: Sclerostin and Dickkopf-1 in renal osteodystrophy. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*, 6: 877-882, 2011.
- 115. Ishimura, E, Okuno, S, Ichii, M, Norimine, K, Yamakawa, T, Shoji, S, Nishizawa, Y, Inaba, M: Relationship between serum sclerostin, bone metabolism markers, and bone mineral density in maintenance hemodialysis patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 99: 4315-4320, 2014.
- 116. Yang, CY, Chang, ZF, Chau, YP, Chen, A, Yang, WC, Yang, AH, Lee, OK: Circulating Wnt/β-catenin signalling inhibitors and uraemic vascular calcifications. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 30: 1356-1363, 2015.
- 117. Yamada, S, Tsuruya, K, Tokumoto, M, Yoshida, H, Ooboshi, H, Kitazono, T: Factors associated with serum soluble inhibitors of Wnt-β-catenin signaling (sclerostin and dickkopf-1) in patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Nephrology (Carlton)*, 20: 639-645, 2015.
- 118. Dutra, EH, O'Brien, MH, Chen, PJ, Wei, M, Yadav, S: Intermittent Parathyroid Hormone [1-34] Augments Chondrogenesis of the Mandibular Condylar Cartilage of the Temporomandibular Joint. *Cartilage*, 12: 475-483, 2021.
- 119. Kim, B, Cho, YJ, Lim, W: Osteoporosis therapies and their mechanisms of action (Review). *Exp Ther Med*, 22: 1379, 2021.

- 120. Aditya, S, Rattan, A: Sclerostin Inhibition: A Novel Target for the Treatment of Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. *J Midlife Health*, 12: 267-275, 2021.
- 121. Bellido, T, Ali, AA, Plotkin, LI, Fu, Q, Gubrij, I, Roberson, PK, Weinstein, RS, O'Brien, CA, Manolagas, SC, Jilka, RL: Proteasomal degradation of Runx2 shortens parathyroid hormone-induced anti-apoptotic signaling in osteoblasts. A putative explanation for why intermittent administration is needed for bone anabolism. *J Biol Chem*, 278: 50259-50272, 2003.
- 122. Sevetson, B, Taylor, S, Pan, Y: Cbfa1/RUNX2 directs specific expression of the sclerosteosis gene (SOST). *J Biol Chem*, 279: 13849-13858, 2004.
- 123. Leupin, O, Kramer, I, Collette, NM, Loots, GG, Natt, F, Kneissel, M, Keller, H: Control of the SOST bone enhancer by PTH using MEF2 transcription factors. *J Bone Miner Res*, 22: 1957-1967, 2007.
- 124. Kramer, I, Baertschi, S, Halleux, C, Keller, H, Kneissel, M: Mef2c deletion in osteocytes results in increased bone mass. *J Bone Miner Res*, 27: 360-373, 2012.
- 125. Collette, NM, Genetos, DC, Economides, AN, Xie, L, Shahnazari, M, Yao, W, Lane, NE, Harland, RM, Loots, GG: Targeted deletion of Sost distal enhancer increases bone formation and bone mass. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109: 14092-14097, 2012.
- 126. Martin, TJ: PTH1R Actions on Bone Using the cAMP/Protein Kinase A Pathway. *Front Endocrinol (Lausanne)*, 12:833221, 2021.
- 127. Jilka, RL, Weinstein, RS, Bellido, T, Roberson, P, Parfitt, AM, Manolagas, SC: Increased bone formation by prevention of osteoblast apoptosis with parathyroid hormone. *J Clin Invest*, 104: 439-446, 1999.
- 128. Vogt, W: Oxidation of methionyl residues in proteins: tools, targets, and reversal. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 18: 93-105, 1995.

APPENDIX

List of figures

Figure 1.	Effects of PTH on bone, intestines, and kidneys.
Figure 2.	Potential mechanisms of Sclerostin/SOST action in the
	osteoblast.
Figure 3.	Mechanisms of interaction between PTH and SOST.
Figure 4.	Effects of n-oxPTH and various forms of oxPTH on SOST gene
	expression in UMR106 rat osteoblast-like cells (a–d).
Figure 5.	Effectiveness of co-stimulation of n-oxPTH and oxPTH on SOST
	gene expression (A-C).
Figure 6.	Inhibitory effect of co-stimulation of Met18 (ox)-PTH and Met8,
	Met18 (di-ox)-PTH on SOST gene expression (i, ii).

List of tables

Table 1.	Chemicals	used ir	n this	Study.
----------	-----------	---------	--------	--------

- Table 2.Reagents and Kits used in this Study.
- Table 3. TaqMan Assays.
- Table 4.Devices and Equipment used in this Study.
- Table 5. Components of DNA Free Kit.
- Table 6. cDNA Synthesis Materials.
- Table 7. cDNA Synthesis Conditions.
- Table 8.TaqMan Fast Advanced Master Mix System.
- Table 9.Plate Experiment Parameters for TaqMan® Gene Expression Assays.

PUBLICATION LIST

Published Thesis:

- Mei Li, Zoran Popovic, Chang Chu, Christoph Reichetzeder, Wolfgang Pommer, Bernhard K. Krämer, Berthold Hocher. Impact of Angiopoietin-2 on Kidney Diseases [J] Kidney Dis (Basel), 2023, 9(3): 143-156.
- Mei Li, Zoran Popovic, Chang Chu, Bernhard K. Krämer, Berthold Hocher. Endostatin in Renal and Cardiovascular Diseases [J] Kidney Dis (Basel), 2021, 7(6): 468-481.
- Mei Li*, Qin Zhang*, Kaixuan Yang. Role of MRI-Based Functional Imaging in Improving the Therapeutic Index of Radiotherapy in Cancer Treatment [J] Front Oncol, 2021,11:645177. (* means equal contribution)
- Kaixuan Yang*, Mei Li*, Jinbing Zhu*, Lei Zeng, Jiangfang Tian, Wenji Xie, Arthur Shou, Yiping Li, Guangjun Li. Nomograms for predicting survival outcomes in IMRT era of nasopharyngeal carcinoma: A study based on Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) DNA biological responses [J] Head Neck, 2021, 43(6):1838-1847. (* means equal contribution)
- Sheng-Fa Su*, Mei Li*, Yi-Chao Geng*, Wen-Gang Yang, Zhu Ma, Qing-Song Li, Yin-Xiang Hu, Wei-Wei Ou-Yang, Ling-Feng Liu, Bing Lu. Randomized phase II study of pemetrexed-cisplatin or docetaxel-cisplatin plus thoracic intensity-modulated radiation therapy in patients with stage IV lung adenocarcinoma [J] Am J Cancer Res, 2019, 9(6):1235-1245. (* means equal contribution)
- Yang K*, Tian J*, Zhang B*, Li M*, Xie W, Zou Y, Tan Q, Liu L, Zhu J, Shou A, Li G.A multidimensional nomogram combining overall stage, dose volume histogram parameters and radiomics to predict progression-free survival in patients with locoregionally advanced nasopharyngeal carcinoma [J] Oral Oncol, 2019,98:85-91. (* means equal contribution)
- Kaixuan Yang, Qian Zhang, Mengxi Zhang, Wenji Xie, Mei Li, Lei Zeng, Qiang Wang, Jianling Zhao, Yiping Li, Guangjun Li. A nomogram for determination of the necessity of concurrent chemotherapy in patients with stage II-IVa nasopharyngeal carcinoma [J] Front Oncol, 2021, 11:640077.

CURRICULUM VITE

Personal Information

Name:	Mei Li
Date of Birth:	21st August 1991
Place of Birth:	Sichuan, China
Nationality:	Chinese
Email:	meili19910928@gmail.com
Address:	Englerthstr. 21, 52134 Herzogenrath

Education

2019-present M.D., Heidelberg University (Nephrology & Endocrinology)

2018-2019

State Key Laboratory of Biotherapy (SKLB), Sichuan university Learn basic laboratory skills and participate in scientific research

2015-2018

M.S., Guizhou Medical University (Radiation Oncology)

Dissertation: The effect of pemetrexed-cisplatin or docetaxel-cisplatin plus thoracic intensity-modulated radiation therapy in patients with stage IV lung adenocarcinoma.

Outstanding Master Thesis Award

3-year clinical training experience during standardized training for resident physicians

2010-2015

B.S., Guizhou Medical University (Clinical Medicine)

1-year internship experience

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Words cannot express my gratitude to my Professor Berthold Hocher for his invaluable patience and feedback. I benefit a lot from his professional knowledge and expertise, supervised approach and friendly guidance during my whole M.D. project. I would like to thank Professor Bernhard Krämer for his continuous support and help when I am studying for my M.D. degree. From every mark-up paper he returns to me, I have learned rigor and professionalism.

I would like to thank Professor Benito Yard for his continuous support and help when I am studying for my M.D. degree in his laboratory in Mannheim. I am also deeply grateful for the help and kindness from the technician in our lab, Mrs. Annette Breedijk, who taught me the experimental techniques in my thesis. I also thank for Mrs. Katrina Prem for providing technical assistances.

Special thanks to my colleagues Ahmed A. Hasan and Chang Chu, who are warmhearted and helpful with regard to my research and publications. Finally, Many thanks to our whole team in Mannheim and in Berlin. They always supported me patiently and nicely.

In addition, I would like to thank my father Mr. Ning Li and Mrs. Maohua Tang for their deepest love, wisdom words, and continuous encouragement along the way. Their support carried me though the hardest time, and made my journey such a memorable experience. Without their companionship, it would be impossible for me to accomplish my M.D. degree. I love them forever.

Finally, I am really grateful to all those who devote much time to reading this thesis and give me much advice, which will benefit me in my later study.

Thank you!